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cONNECT

OPPORTUNITIES

CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities
traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will
be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take
no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation
as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the
whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of In Technical
Productions Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually
accept full responsibilities, includes particulars given in compliance with
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”).
The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the
best of their knowledge and belief, the information contained in this
report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading
or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would
make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement

TRHES

To all shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company, | am
pleased to present the audited consolidated annual financial statements
of In Technical Productions Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together referred as the “Group”) for the year ended 31
May 2022.

As the COVID-19 outbreak subsided, governments around the world
relaxed the implementation of social distancing policies, quarantine orders
and travel restrictions, which had a positive impact on the recovery of
businesses worldwide. The outbreak of the pandemic in the region where
our major operations are located has been largely contained by the
effective prevention and control measures taken by the governments of
the region, which has had a positive impact on our business. In light of
the above, there was a significant increase in performances and events
compared to last year. For the year ended 31 May 2022, the Group
recognized revenue of approximately HK$20.3 million, representing an
increase of HK$8.0 million or 65% over that for the year ended 31 May
2021. The Group’s gross loss for the year ended 31 May 2022 was
approximately HK$11.5 million, compared to a gross loss of approximately
HK$22.5 million for the year ended 31 May 2021. The net loss of the
Group was approximately HK$24.4 million, representing a decrease of
approximately HK$11.3 million or 32% as compared to the year ended
31 May 2021.

Although traditional performances and events have been adversely
affected by the COVID-19 outbreak which has impacted our business in
recent years, the Group has started to seek and successfully explored new
business opportunities that can leverage on our existing video display
equipment. The business opportunities arise from the market demand for
new technologies, with metaverse technologies defined as the next
generation of Internet technologies, covering both the Internet and the
real world. These technologies can be widely used for visual displays with
visual effects to realize extended reality (xR) performances/events and
virtual human performances. The Group has entered into cooperation
with Shenzhen Xinhang Information Technology Company Limited, which
has the relevant metaverse technology. The companies under the Group
will extend its business into the field of metaverse technology and explore
the application of this technology to its existing video display business.

In view of the relaxation of global epidemic control policies, the Board is
confident that the business can be put back on track as soon as possible.
The Group will continue to strengthen the management’s governance
and explore more business opportunities to diversify the business for the
benefit of our shareholders.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022

B ALRR

KAANERRARABAETG(ESTEDMA
#£ 2 In Technical Productions Holdings Limited
TERRARDREKMBARI (BB AEE])
HE-_T-_—_FRAA=+-—BHLEFENHEK
BERGEFEMBRE -

BE ZCOVID-19%F 15 WY & 1 - 2 3K & #h I
ﬁmﬁzﬁﬁxﬁﬁﬁﬁ b BE < K K 3%
BRI - Tiﬁmﬁ%@ﬁﬁXFﬂm@
QOQTI & b BT R BB U i
B F\%$FW ZH HERMOEBEE
B2 - EREMFER BHRED
BEFREBEBEN -B#E_ZT-__FHA
_+ BIEFE AEERRKEL2038
BEX T REE-_TE=-—FHA=+—8
IEFEHMN80H BB Lak65% - ANE B E
E-E-_—_FSRA=+—BILEENEIE
WENSEEST MEBEE-_E_—F1A
—t+—HILEFENEBOAENRSEERT
REBREEFENB2LUIAGE BT BEH
AT -_—FERA=1T—"HIEFEERLYE
M3BEBIILE32% °

BEESELDREEZCOVID-19Z BN
% . ﬁEXﬂﬁﬁm%%LmTﬂ%;'
AREBEMBEIXNDERAFNBRMES
REBTRENHEGH T - EBEH K
BRI BEMERNMER K TFHEM
WEEBT —RHOE BB WEEH
HMEBEMHR ZEHRMeEEZERAES
REBVRNEGBES  BHEREHEKR)E
t R BRAEL AEBEEEEY T
EMEMBIEERARIENRAIE HESF
HETFERM - SEQRBICERLTER
EULFEEMEE  WHERRG BRI E
BREENREEREEER -

A;L

EREZRRBERRRORE &
EEBAEREDIESY - $%l%%£m
BEEEMNER ABEZXRHEHEAE
EBeznl RRSBRERXE-



Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
FRERES (B

The Board would like to extend its sincere thanks to the shareholders of ZEEe WU A NG R AN EERE - 275
the Company and the Group, business partners and customers for their % £ & B F B LA 20 B BR &l - R G 18 &5 4
utmost support to the Group. The Group would also like to take this 7N & E ) & H X 55 o A & B J5 2 It il & &
opportunity to thank all management members and staff for their hard #FFA SR ABNRE T2 F R T £

work and dedication throughout the years. KRR -

Ma Lie FE

Chairman B

Hong Kong, 23 August 2022 EE . —E-——€AA=+=H
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWE D

Business Review

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of visual display solution
service.

During the year ended 31 May 2022, the Group was engaged in 107 pop
concert shows for Hong Kong and non-Hong Kong artists/bands (2021:
65).

The Group derived approximately 33.7% of its total revenue during the
year ended 31 May 2022 from pop concerts (2021: 20.9%), the majority
of which took place in Hong Kong and Macau. The remainder of the
Group's revenue was attributable to other live events, including corporate
events, exhibitions, sports and recreational events and other live
performances, as well as equipment rental.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

During the year ended 31 May 2022, the Group faced the following risks
and uncertainties that might have affected the Group’s financial
condition, results of operations, business and prospects:

Financial risk

The Group's operations are exposed to various types of financial risks
such as cash flow and fair value interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. Details of the aforesaid risk factors and the
respective risk management measures are shown in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Operational risk

The success of the Group’s business is largely attributable to the Group’s
ability to keep pace with the latest development of visual display
technology in the market in order to provide feasible and cost-effective
visual display solutions to the Group’s customers. The Group’s executive
directors and senior management are responsible for assessing the
change in market trends and making decisions to invest in suitable visual
display equipment to cope with the latest customer demands and
specifications in a timely and cost-effective manner.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Cyber risk and security

The Group’s computer equipment and website are exposed to attack,
damage or unauthorized access in this cyber era. Failure to protect the
Group's computer equipment and website from any unauthorized access
can result in reputational damage, financial loss and disruptions in
operations.

The Group has installed appropriate anti-virus software and internet fire
walls to protect the Group’s computer equipment and website from any
cyber-attacks. Trainings have been provided to the Group’s staff to follow
a security code setting procedures to minimize the likelihood of any
unauthorized access to the Group’s computer equipment.

Data fraud or theft

The Group's critical information is kept and managed by the Group's
executive directors and key management. Failure to protect the Group’s
critical information from any data fraud or theft can result in financial loss
and disruptions in operations.

Trainings have been provided to the Group’s executive directors and key
management for keeping and managing the Group’s critical information
to minimize the likelihood of any data fraud or theft.

Environment and social risks

For details of how the Group addresses to its environment and social
risks, where applicable, please refer to the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report on pages 39 to 57 of this annual report.

Market risk

The Group’s business performance and financial conditions may be
affected by the state of economy in Hong Kong. As an international
financial centre, the economy of Hong Kong is susceptible to material
fluctuations, volatility, disruptions or downturn of broader global
economic and financial environment, particularly to the developments in
the PRC. The Group's executive directors are responsible for determining
an overall market risk control framework, monitoring and assessing
market conditions and devising refined policies in light of any adverse
factors affecting the Group’s performance and market position.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BHEE Lo (8)

Financial Review

Revenue

The Group generates revenue from providing (i) visual display solutions to
its customers in relation to pop concert shows and various other live
events; and (ii) equipment rental.

The following table sets out a breakdown of the Group's revenue by
source of income during the year ended 31 May 2022 with comparative
figures for the year ended 31 May 2021.

Year ended 31 May 2022

Bt %% B B8

U ==
AEEBRODAERTELEBEREZEH
IR ES AR 2 R R G B RERE
FE: RINEHEHEEE W -
TREIRE=z2_FT_—_FRA=+—H

HEFEAREBZRKARIRE 5 2 W% H 4
rEE-_E-_—FRA=1+—"BHItEEZ
LE & B -

Year ended 31 May 2021

BE-Z-—-F HE-_T-—F

EA=+-BLEE EFA=+—HIFE
% of total % of total
HK$'000 revenue HK$'000 revenue
R E=E k] 1 W a5 A2 RE
FET HE 2L FAT WE D
Visual display solutions RGN RR 19,424 95.5 12,022 97.4
Equipment rental HEHE 923 4.5 327 2.6
Total 485t 20,347 100.0 12,349 100.0

During the year ended 31 May 2022, the Group principally derived its
revenue from the provision of visual display solutions, which accounted
for approximately 95.5% of the Group’s total revenue (2021: 97.4%).
The Group’s revenue increased from approximately HK$12.3 million for
the year ended 31 May 2021 to approximately HK$20.3 million for the
year ended 31 May 2022, representing an increase of approximately
64.8%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Visual display solutions

The following table sets out a breakdown of the Group’s revenue from
visual display solutions during the year ended 31 May 2022 with
comparative figures for the year ended 31 May 2021. For the purpose of
revenue breakdown presentation, other live events include corporate

BEE W Lo (8)

BEBETRBRAIR

TRHFINBEE_ZE_—_FRA=+—81
EFEASEREREBENBRTIRZI
PP ERBEE-_E-_—FRAABA=+—
BIEFEZLEREE - 25 Wk B4

events, sports and recreation events, exhibitions and other live T @ H#IRBESHBELETE 25 KLIK
performances. BEE  BERHEMIBIBERE-
Year ended 31 May 2022 Year ended 31 May 2021
BZE-_Z__FHA=+-HLEE BE_Z-_—SAA=T—HILFE
% of total % of total
revenue Average revenue  Average
from visual revenue from visual revenue
No.of Revenue display pershow No.of  Revenue display  per show
shows (HK$'000) solutions (HK$'000) shows (HK$'000) solutions  (HK$'000)
HREER 55 HEGEER 515
BRAER EHEMN RARRE  EHK
B iz ARuRn FHksE  BEH e  Blas ks
B (TA&R) Bakk (F&xm) B (F4A1L) Batk (F&T)
Pop concerts mTE%EEe 107 6,857 35.3 64 65 2,510 20.9 39
Other live events H 138 35 55 B 1,253 12,567 64.7 10 1,163 9,512 79.1 7
Total revenue from 18 & BRIk
visual display GE &Y L
solutions 1,360 19,424 100.0 14 1,228 12,022 100.0 10
The increase in revenue from pop concerts was mainly due to the increase S EEeMREIENIETEARST

in average revenue per pop concert performance from approximately
HK$39,000 for the year ended 31 May 2021 to approximately HK$64,000
for the year ended 31 May 2022. There was an increase in the number of
performances as the impact of COVID-19 was gradually mitigated for the
year ended 31 May 2022.

The increase in revenue from other live events was mainly due to the
increase in average revenue per show. The average revenue per
performance for other live events increased from HK$7,000 for the year
ended 31 May 2021 to approximately HK$10,000 for the year ended 31
May 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BHEE Lo (8)

Revenue analysis by geographical location BRiIBEUEE DN WS D

The following table sets out a breakdown of the revenue of the Group [FXHIEHEE-_ZE-_—_FRA=+—H 1

from pop concerts by geographical location during the year ended 31 FEARE HBIg#H BN B 2 H B 51T = %

May 2022 with comparative figures for the year ended 31 May 2021: EEeWEBAERBEE_ZET - —FH A
ST -RALEFEZLEEIE :

Year ended 31 May 2022 Year ended 31 May 2021
BE-Z-__fRA=t+-HLFE BE_F_~FIA=t+-ALEE
% of total  Average % of total ~ Average
revenue revenue revenue  revenue

No.of Revenue frompop pershow No.of Revenue  frompop per show
shows (HK$'000) concerts (HK$'000) shows (HK$'000) concerts  (HK$'000)

R SR AT SR
FRRER  WTY EEEEE  HFY

& i KE AREW ki@ Rd W  RRED o g
g8 (FEn) Bolk (FEx) HE (FEL B S ey

Pop concerts RITESEES
Hong Kong Eb 106 6,807 99.0 64 41 13551 61.8 38
PRC i — — — — 6 393 15.7 66
Macau SRS 1 50 1.0 50 3 110 4.4 37
Taiwan =Y — — — — 15 456 18.1 30
Total revenue from KRB RTS8

pop concerts IBer el 107 6,857 100.0 64 65 2,510 100.0 39

During the year ended 31 May 2022, most pop concerts were held in g Z T - —~&#HFH=+—HIFEE ' H

Hong Kong by local artists due to travel restrictions. The relaxation of R IRFER G| KD ARITS LS R A

pandemic control measures in Hong Kong, where the Company mainly xR EE R AR AT T ELKLL i F

operates, led to an increase in pop concerts during the year. B ERENEEEE TEFRALRTS
LOm L% o
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

The following table sets out a breakdown of the revenue of the Group
from other live events by the geographical location during the year ended
31 May 2022 with comparative figures for the year ended 31 May 2021:

Year ended 31 May 2022

BEE W Lo (8)

SeReplmEs s = =4%mE =Bk
FEEAEERHWEBUEE H»BHMEBIGE
FESHEK=HAERBEE T =-_—FH
A=Z+—BILEFEZHREE

Year ended 31 May 2021

BE-ZE--_fRA=+—-HLEE m = = = B ==l

% of total Average % of total ~ Average
revenue revenue revenue  revenue
No.of Revenue from other pershow No.of Revenue from other per show
shows (HK$'000) live events (HK$'000) shows (HK$'000) live events (HK$'000)
hHHEML BHEL hEM §%HEL
BRigES M1 155 B 85
B s BAWEm k@ B W BlEH W &=
gE (T#n) Bk (F&xm) #HEB (FAm) Balk (FET)
Other live events  H b3 1555 &
Hong Kong BB 1,167 7,113 56.6 6 1,084 5,989 62.8 6
PRC # 59 1,738 13.8 29 70 2,532 26.8 36
Macau SRFY 27 3,716 29.6 138 9 991 10.4 110
Total revenue from R B E 3835
other live events EEEIREE 1,253 12,567 100.0 10 1,163 9,512 100.0 8

During the year ended 31 May 2022, the Group continued to provide
services for various events in Hong Kong, China and Macau. The ease of
the COVID-19 outbreak in Hong Kong in the second half of the financial
reporting year resulted in an increase in activities. During 2022, the Group
has participated in certain long term equipment rentals in Hong Kong,
which were used for long term window displays in a shopping mall that
serves to bring more event business to the Group. During the year, the
Group also participated in a number of auto shows and product launches
in the PRC, but the recurring resurgence of the COVID-19 in the PRC
resulted in the lockdown of several cities, which affected the Group's
business in the PRC. Revenue was 31.4% lower than that for the year
ended 31 May 2021. However, other live events in Macau increased
significantly during the year and the average revenue per show increased
by 275.0% compared to the year ended 31 May 2021.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BHEE Lo (8)

Cost of services

The following table sets out the components of the cost of services of the
Group during the year ended 31 May 2022 with comparative figures for
the year ended 31 May 2021:

Year ended 31 May 2022

AR 3 AR A<

TEHIFHE_E-_—_FRA=+—A81
FEAEBRBRKANAR B REZE =
T FRA=+—HItFEEZHREE

Year ended 31 May 2021

Bz-T—-Z= BE_T_—F
ERA=+t—-BLEE EFA=+—BLFE
% of total % of total
cost of cost of
HK$'000 services HK$'000 services
1k B 7% 15 AR 75
RAEEE PN
FET HWEZL FAET ONEaNsd
Depreciation e 19,007 59.7 19,200 55.1
Direct labour costs ERYSTIHRAN 6,914 21.7 9,003 25.8
Subcontracting charges nEB 1,758 5.5 1,348 3.9
Freight and logistics expenses & & & i & 1,746 5.5 780 2.2
Cost of equipment and spare 3% & & Fid 14 Bk 4
parts 384 1.2 431 1.2
Rental expenses related to lease ERFHE R EH @2
of equipment HeEM 2,026 6.4 4,088 11.8
Total st 31,835 100.0 34,850 100.0
Depreciation ITE

Depreciation recognised under the cost of services of the Group is related
to the depreciation expenses for the visual display equipment of the
Group for the provision of its services. For the year ended 31 May 2022,
depreciation of visual display equipment represented approximately
59.9% of total cost of services (2021: approximately 55.1%).

Direct labour costs

Direct labour costs of the Group represent compensation and benefits
provided to the Group’s project managers, visual technicians, equipment
development and maintenance staff and warehouse keepers employed by
the Group. For the year ended 31 May 2022, direct labour costs
represented approximately 22% of total cost of services (2021:
approximately 25.8%).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Subcontracting charges

Subcontracting charges of the Group primarily represent fees paid and
payable to the human resource company which provided us with workers
for installing and dismantling visual display equipment at pop concerts or
other live events in Hong Kong, the PRC and Macau. For the year ended
31 May 2022, subcontracting charges represented approximately 5% of
total cost of services (2021: approximately 3.9%).

Freight and logistics expenses

Freight and logistics expenses of the Group primarily represent
transportation expenses for delivering the Group’s visual display
equipment to or from its warehouses to the designated venues of pop
concerts and other live events or between different sites of pop concerts
and other live events. For the year ended 31 May 2022, freight and
logistics expenses represented approximately 5.5% of total cost of
services (2021: approximately 2.2%).

Cost of equipment and spare parts

Cost of equipment and spare parts of the Group represents the expenses
in relation to tools and consumables used for on-site installation and
maintenance, or cost relating to the equipment that the customer opt to
keep. For the year ended 31 May 2022, the cost of equipment and spare
parts represented approximately 1.2% of total cost of services (2021:
approximately 1.2%).

Rental expenses related to lease of equipment

Rental expenses of short-term leases in respect of equipment of the
Group primarily represent rental charges for visual display equipment
such as LED panels, projectors, video control units, and other equipment
that was required for the pop concerts or other live events in Hong Kong,
Macau and the PRC (i) where the Group’s own relevant equipment was
fully occupied at the particular time or (i) for cost effectiveness reason in
view of the logistics expenses or (iii) due to different types of equipment
which the Group does not own is being used. For the year ended 31 May
2022, rental expenses of short-term leases in respect of equipment
represented approximately 6.4% (2021:11.8%) of total cost of services.

Gross (loss)/profit and gross (loss)/profit margin

Gross loss of the Group for the year ended 31 May 2022 amounted to
approximately HK$11.5 million (2021: gross loss of approximately
HK$22.5 million), representing gross loss margin of approximately 56.5%
(2021: gross loss margin of 182%,).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BHEE Lo (8)

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses of the Group mainly include administrative
staff costs, depreciation of right-of-use assets, rental expenses of short-
term leases in respect of rental premises and others. The Group’s
administrative expenses increased by approximately 5.9% from
approximately HK$13.6 million for the year ended 31 May 2021 to
approximately HK$14.4 million for the year ended 31 May 2022. Such
increase was mainly due to the continued relaxation of controls related to
COVID-19 and the significant growth of the Company’s business as
compared to last year.

Finance costs, net

The finance cost, net of the Group mainly consists of interests on bank
borrowings which were all repayable within five years, interest expenses
on obligations under finance lease and interest on lease liabilities. The
Group's finance costs increase by approximately 19.1% from HK$0.54
million for the year ended 31 May 2021 to approximately HK$0.64 million
for the year ended 31 May 2022 which was mainly due to the increase in
bank borrowing.

Income tax credit

The Group is subject to income tax on an enterprise basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which members of the Group
are domiciled and operate.

During the years ended 31 May 2022 and 2021, all PRC subsidiaries of
the Company were subject to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate of
25.0%.

The Hong Kong subsidiary of the Company was subject to Hong Kong
profit tax at the rate of 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits during
the years ended 31 May 2022 and 2021.

The Macau subsidiary of the Company was subject to Macau
complementary tax at the rate of 12.0% on the estimated assessable
income exceeding MOP600,000 during the year ended 31 May 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

During the years ended 31 May 2022 and 2021, no Hong Kong profits
tax, PRC corporate income tax and Macau complementary tax have been
provided for as the Group did not generate any estimated assessable
profit.

The effective income tax rate of the Group was 2.3% in the year ended
31 May 2022 (2021: 12.3%).

Loss for the year

As a result of the foregoing, the Group's loss was approximately HK$24.4
million for the year ended 31 May 2022, representing a decrease of
approximately HK$10.7 million as compared of approximately HK$35.1
million for the year ended 31 May 2021. The decrease in loss for the year
ended 31 May 2022 was primarily attributable to (i) the significant
increase in the number of shows and events engaged during the year
ended 31 May 2022; (i) increase in the equipment rental charges; and (iii)
successful implementation of various cost saving measures.

Business Update

The business of the Group improved significantly yet remained affected
by the pandemic during the year ended 31 May 2022. The outbreak of
COVID-19 have adversely affected our business and our industry. Shows
and events were forced to postpone, reschedule or even cancel due to
various epidemic prevention reasons, such as social distancing order and
quarantine order imposed by the government, global travel restriction,
closure of venues, etc, imposed by local governments globally. The Group
has tried to lower the Company’s administrative expenses by minimizing
the cost of operation, such as no-pay leave for operating staffs in Hong
Kong, Macau and China and rent reduction request to all landlords.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

B E T R A T ()

In addition to fighting for survival, in order to overcome the impact of
COVID-19 and other possible pandemic viruses in the future, the Group
has been actively seeking potential business opportunities and seeking to
apply the Group's video display solutions to industries other than the live
event industry and to expand the Company’s opportunities in upstream
and downstream related business in order to broaden the Group’s
revenue stream and enhance shareholder value. During the shutdown of
the entertainment industry, the Group's live event business was
significantly impacted. In order to mitigate the adverse impact resulted
from having single source of revenue, the Group has sought a new
business concept of utilizing the existing video display equipment and
introducing it to the television/film industry as well as introducing the
application of new technologies. The Group has reached an agreement
with Shenzhen Xinhang Information Technology Company Limited to
explore in the area of metaverse technology. The Group believes that this
will become a promising business segment that can unleash great
potential for development.

The management believes that our business will return to the right track
as COVID-19 gradually subsides, and will even experience explosive
growth in the near future when the COVID-19 outbreak is over.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Financial Resources, Liquidity and Capital Structure

The Group finances its operations primarily through cash generated from
operating activities, interest-bearing bank borrowings and finance leases.
The Group recorded net current liabilities of approximately HK$26.4
million as at 31 May 2022 (2021: net current assets approximately
HK$12.1 million).

As at 31 May 2022, the Group’s current ratio was approximately 0.32 (2021:
approximately 0.55) and the Group’s gearing ratio calculated based on
the total debt at the end of the year divided by total equity at the end of
the year was approximately 47.1% (2021: approximately 21.2%).

As at 31 May 2022, the maximum limit of the banking facilities available
to the Group was amounted to HK$13 million (2021: HK$10 million). The
bank borrowings were denominated in Hong Kong dollars, repayable
within eight year or on demand and interest-bearing from 2.75% to 4.19%
per annum (2021: 2.75% to 3.75% per annum).

As at 31 May 2022, the capital structure of the Group consisted of equity
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately HK$46.5 million,
comprising issued share capital and reserves.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

There has been no change in the capital structure of the Group during
the year ended 31 May 2022.

Foreign Currency Exposure Risks

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with
respect to certain purchases with United States dollars (“US$”) and
Macau Patacas (“MOP”) and certain sales with Renminbi (“RMB").
Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not
the group entities’ functional currency. The Group however did not
engage in any derivatives agreements and did not commit to any financial
instrument to hedge its foreign exchange exposure during the year ended
31 May 2022.

Treasury Policies

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the year ended 31 May 2022. The Group strives to
reduce exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing credit assessments
and evaluations of the financial status of its customers. To manage
liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors the Group'’s liquidity position to
ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and
other commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to time.

Significant Investments, Material Acquisitions and
Disposals of Subsidiaries

During the year ended 31 May 2022, the Group did not have any

significant investments, material acquisitions nor disposals of subsidiaries
and affiliated companies.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 May 2022, the Group did not have any project of capital
commitment (2021: HK$1.5 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BIEE N w Mo (E)

Contingent Liabilities XREE

As at 31 May 2022, the Group did not have any material contingent R-ZT-—&FERHB=+—H A&EFB LT &
liabilities. EREAKAAE-

Pledge of Assets EEKH

As at 31 May 2022, the Group did not have any pledged short-termbank R=-ZZE-—FHFHA=+—H AN&EHI &
deposits as security for the Group’s banking facilities (2021: nil). FREEBEHETES  (EAERNERSE
TREZER( CE=Z—F:8)-
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board is committed to establish and ensuring high standards of
corporate governance and adopt sound corporate governance practices.
The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the "CG
Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules. The Directors
strongly believe that reasonable and sound corporate governance
practices are essential for the growth of the Group and for safeguarding
and enhancing shareholders’ interests.

The Directors consider that during the Reporting Period except for the
deviation from code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the Company has
complied with all the applicable code provisions set out in the CG Code.
Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual. Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis was the chairman and the
chief executive officer of the Company until his resignation from his
position as Chairman on 11 May 2022 and the appointment of Mr. Ma
Lie on the same day. Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis currently remains as an
executive Director. In view of Mr. Yeung’s role in day-to-day operations
and management of the Group since April 2009, the Board believes that
it was in the best interest of the Group to have Mr. Yeung take up both
roles for effective management and business development. Therefore, the
Directors consider that the deviation from the code provision C.2.1 of the
CG Code was appropriate in such circumstances and the Board is of the
view that this management structure is effective for the Group’s
operations and sufficient checks and balances are in place.

Board of Directors

The key responsibilities of the Board include formulation of the Group’s
overall strategies, the setting of management targets and supervision of
management performance. The management is delegated with the
authority and responsibility by the Board for the management and
administration of the Group. In addition, the Board has also delegated
various responsibilities to the Board committees of the Company. Further
details of the Board committees are set out below in this report.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

20

EERHRSE (B

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for promoting the
success of the Company by the direction and supervision of the
Company'’s business and affairs and the ultimate responsibility for day to
day management of the Company which is delegated to the
management. To this end, monthly financial and operational information
are provided to the Board for assessing the performance of the Company
and its subsidiaries. For significant matters that are specifically delegated
by the Board, the management must report back to and obtain prior
approval from the Board before making decisions or entering into any
commitments on behalf of the Company. The management is responsible
for the day-to-day management and operation of the Group and to
provide the Board with updates in a timely manner, giving an assessment
of the Company’s performance and position to enable the Board to
discharge its duties.

The Board is responsible for, among others, performing the corporate
governance duties as set out in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code,
which include:

(@) to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

() to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to the Directors and

employees; and

(e)  to review the Group's compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in the corporate governance report.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Board Composition

The Board comprises seven Directors, three of whom are executive
Directors and the other four are independent non-executive Directors.
Details of their composition by category are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Ma Lie (Chairman)

Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Tam Chun Yu

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Ji Gui Bao

Mr. Cui Hai Bin

Mr. Chen Yue

Ms. Jiang Yu E

All Directors have appropriate professional qualification or substantive
experience and industry knowledge. The Board as a whole has achieved
an appropriate balance of skills and experience. The composition of the
Board satisfies the requirements of Rules 5.05 and 5.05A of the GEM
Listing Rules. There are four independent non-executive Directors and at
least one of them has accounting professional qualification. With more
than one-third of the members of the Board are independent non-
executive Directors, the Board has a fairly strong independence element
in terms of its composition.

The participation of independent non-executive Directors in the Board
brings a diverse range of expertise, skills and independent judgment on
issues relating to the Group’s strategies, performance, conflicts of
interests and management process to ensure that the interests of all
shareholders of the Company have been duly considered.

The details of Directors are set out in the section headed “Biographies of
Directors and Senior Management” on pages 77 and 81 of this annual
report. There are no family or other material relationships among
members of the Board.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EERHRSE (B

Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

The Board has established three committees, namely, the audit committee
(the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) and the nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”), on 19 May 2017 with delegated powers for overseeing
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. Each of the committees of
the Company has been established with written terms of reference.

The Board will conduct at least four regular meetings a year. The Directors
can attend meetings in person or through other means of electronic
communication in accordance with the Company’s articles of association
(the "Articles”). The chairman of the Board also meets with the
independent non-executive Directors at least once a year without the
presence of the executive Directors. Notices and agendas of regular Board
meetings are served to all Directors at least 14 days before convening the
Board meeting. For all other Board and committee meetings, reasonable
notice is generally given. All other schedules and the relevant information
of each Board and committee meeting are generally made available to
Directors or committee members at least three days in advance. The
Board and each Director also have separate and independent access to
the management whenever necessary.
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During the year ended 31 May 2022, the Company held ten Board
meetings, five Audit Committee meetings, two Remuneration Committee
meetings and one Nomination Committee meetings. All minutes of the
Board meetings and meetings of Board committees were recorded in
sufficient detail the matters considered by the Board and the decisions

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

reached. Details of the attendance of Directors are as follows:

TCEERRSE (B)
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AAIBERTTRESEEEE AXAEXRZE
BEeek MATHZETEHR—XIE
HEECER EZCCRRESEZES
ZHESZLH DEHESTEMERFE
NEBZREIERHFHZLE -EFH
FEBERFEBET :

Attendance/Number of meetings

HERE SEETRY
Board
Meeting Audit Remuneration Nomination General
(Note 1) Committee Committee = Committee meeting
Exees

Name of Directors EEpg (1) BZEES ¥MZzEe REZES BRRAE
Executive Directors: HITESE:
Mr. Ma Lie (appointed on BRI E (20225

11 May 2022) 58118 &) 1/10 — = — -
Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis BIEIE & 9/10 — — 212 11
Mr. Tam Chun Yu BRFEE 910 — — — 1/1
Independent Non-executive BV EHITESE:

Directors:
Mr. Ji Gui Bao (appointed on CEBELE(2022F

11 May 2022) 5A11BIm) 1/10 1/5 — — —
Mr. Cui Hai Bin (appointed on £ )& % 4 (20224

11 May 2022) 5811 BE®) 1/10 1/5 — — —
Mr. Chen Yue (appointed on PR 58 4 (20226

11 May 2022) 5A1MBIMm) 1/10 1/5 — — —
Ms. Jiang Yu E (appointed on 3= & + (20224

11 May 2022) 5A11BE®) 1/10 1/5 — — —
Mr. Li Kai Sing (resigned on TR £ (2022

11 May 2022) 5A11BEEE) 9/10 4/5 212 2/2 1/1
Mr. Ma Tsz Chun (resigned on 5 B & 46 4 (2022 4F

11 May 2022) 5811 BEEME) 9/10 4/5 212 212 11
Ms. Loh Lai Ping Phillis (resigned  Z& B8 % % + (2022 5

on 11 May 2022) 5A11BEET) 9/10 4/5 212 — 11
Note 1: Include a Board meeting where the Chairman met Non-executive and Independent MfizE1: BFE— R FEIFHRTEESRBIIEHNTES

Non-Executive Directors in the absence of the Executive Directors and management.

EENEFESAMTESREREY &S
E) e

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) ARAGARWME((ARIME)EET A
attended all the scheduled Board meetings to report matters arising from fEBrEFe ez UWHEEBELEE S
corporate governance, risk management, statutory compliance, [EfgEIE - EXHEST - @t BB FEMNSE
accounting and finance. " o

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited =& = ZFF 3}

23



24

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TrERERWmE (B

Practice and Conduct of Meetings

Schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are normally made available
to Directors in advance. At least 14 days' notice should be given for a
regular Board meeting. For other Board and committee meetings,
reasonable notices are generally given.

Minutes of all Board meetings recording sufficient details of matters
considered and decisions reached are duly kept by the Company Secretary
at the meetings and open for inspection by the Directors.

The Articles contain provisions requiring Directors to abstain from voting
and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving
transactions in which such Directors or any of their associates have a
material interest.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each Board
meeting or Audit Committee meeting to keep the Directors apprised of
the latest developments and financial position of the Company and to
enable them to make informed decisions.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The Articles provide that at each annual general meeting, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3),
the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation and that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an
annual general meeting at least once every three years.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into an
appointment letter with the Company. The appointment letter of each of
the independent non-executive Directors is for a term of three years,
which may be terminated by not less than one month’s notice in writing
served by either party on the other. The aforesaid appointment letters are
subject to termination provisions therein and the retirement and re-
election provisions in the Articles. Details of the appointment letters are
summarised in the Report of the Board of Directors on page 60 of this
annual report.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Directors’ Continuous Training and Professional
Development

To assist Directors’ continuing professional development, the Company
recommends Directors to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. Up to the date of this report, all Directors have participated in
continuous professional development by attending training courses or
reading relevant materials on the topics related to corporate governance
and regulations. Records of the training received by the respective
Directors are kept and updated by the Company Secretary.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The Independent non-executive Directors are experienced professionals
with expertise in respective areas of accounting, finance, industry
knowledge and expertise. With their professional knowledge and
experience, the independent non-executive Directors serve an important
function of advising the senior management on strategy development
and ensure that the Board maintains high standards in financial and other
mandatory reporting as well as providing adequate checks and balances
for safeguarding the interests of the shareholders and the Company as a
whole; and independent non-executive Directors will participate in the
Company’s various committees including the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.

The Company has received from each of its independent non-executive
Directors the written confirmation of his/her independence. The Company
considers the independent non-executive Directors to be independent in
accordance with Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Chairman and Executive Directors

The chairman of the Board provides leadership to the Board and is also
responsible for the effective functioning of the Board in accordance with
good corporate governance practice and is responsible for the overall
corporate management of the business development strategies of the
Group, The executive Directors are responsible for the implementation of
the business strategies, policies and objectives set out by the Board and is
accountable to the Board for the overall operations of the Group. These
functions and responsibilities are currently being shared by the
management team.
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TrERERWmE (B

Board Committee

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 19 May 2017 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 and 5.29 of the
GEM Listing Rules. The full terms of reference setting out details of the
authority, duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee is available
on both the GEM website and the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee comprises four independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Ji Gui Bao, Mr. Cui Hai Bin, Mr. Chen Yue and Ms.
Jiang Yu E. Mr. Ji Gui Bao is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board by
providing an independent view of the effectiveness of the financial
reporting process, risk management and internal control systems of the
Group, to oversee the audit process, to develop and review the policies of
the Group and to perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned by
the Board. The full terms of reference setting out details of duties of the
Audit Committee is available on both the GEM website and the
Company’s website.

PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC"”) has resigned as auditor of the
Company (the “Auditor”) with effect from 17 June 2022. As the
Company and PwC could not reach an agreement on the audit fee for
the financial year ended 31 May 2022. The Board, upon the
recommendation of the Audit Committee, has appointed Zhonghui Anda
CPA Limited as the new auditor with effect from 17 June 2022 to fill the
casual vacancy arising from the resignation of PwC and to hold office
until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company.
The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 May 2022.

According to the current terms of reference, meetings of the Audit
Committee shall be held at least four times a year and the external
auditor may request a meeting if they consider that one is necessary.

Details of the number of Audit Committee meetings held and Directors’

attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of Meetings and
Directors’ Attendance” on pages 22 to 23 of this annual report.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee in compliance
with Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules, which comprises four
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Cui Hai Bin, Mr. Ji Gui
Bao, Mr. Chen Yue and Ms. Jiang Yu E. Mr. Cui Hai Bin is the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include (but without
limitation): (a) making recommendations to the Directors regarding the
policy and structure for the remuneration of all the Directors and senior
management of the Group and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policies; (b) making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of the
Directors and senior management of the Group; (c) reviewing and
approving the management’s remuneration proposals with reference to
the Board’'s corporate goals and objectives; and (d) considering and
approving the grant of share options to eligible participants pursuant to
the share option scheme conditionally adopted by the sole shareholder of
the Company on 19 May 2017 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The full
terms of reference setting out details of duties of the Remuneration
Committee is available on both the GEM website and the Company’s
website.

The Remuneration Committee determines Directors’ remuneration by
reference to the benchmarking of the market. The Company also looks
into individual Director’s competence, duties, responsibilities, performance
and the results of the Group in determining the exact level of
remuneration for each Director.

Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee,
meeting shall be held at least once a year.

Details of the number of Remuneration Committee meeting held and
Directors attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of
Meetings and Directors’ Attendance” on pages 22 to 23 of this annual
report.
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XeamE (8

TEE

Senior Management’s remuneration SREEEN F M

Senior Management's remuneration payment of the Group for theyear HE-_ZT-_—-—FHRA=+—HIIFE ' &K

ended 31 May 2022 falls within the following band: EESHAEEBNFMINEATEER :
Number of
individuals

HKS$ BT AE

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 0% 1,000,000/ 7T 5

Remuneration policy ¥ B BUR

The remuneration policy of the Group for the Directors and senior AEFBEELRSREEENET RSB

management was based on their experience, level of responsibility and
general market conditions. Any discretionary bonus and other merit
payments are linked to the performance of the Group and the individual
performance of the Directors and senior management.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises one executive Director, namely Mr.
Ma Lie, and four independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Cui
Hai Bin, Mr. Ji Gui Bao, Mr. Chen Yue and Ms. Jiang Yu E. Mr. Ma Lie is
the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The primary function of the Nomination Committee is to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board on regular basis; identify
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members; assess the
independence of independent non-executive Directors; and make
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors. The full terms of reference
setting out details of the authority, duties and responsibilities of the
Nomination Committee is available on both the GEM website and the
Company’s website.

Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee,

meeting can be called by the member of the Nomination Committee any
time when it is necessary.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Nomination Procedures:

I

The secretary should give the nomination committee member a
membership list, listing out the current board members’ name,
position & duties at the organization.

Each year, the nominating committee is to evaluate current board
members to assess whether they are performing satisfactorily and
should be considered for re-election. Evaluations may be performed
by a subset of the nominating committee or an independent third
party to ensure the fairness.

Next step is to receive recommendations for new board members
from management or current board members. The nomination
committee should review the resumes of potential candidates,
assessing their skills and experience to determine if they meet
qualifications for the position. In reviewing candidate profiles, the
committee should also consider criteria that includes:

o Proven leadership

o Previous board experience

o Knowledge and experience

. Diversity — including age, gender, ethnicity, race, disabilities,
geography

° Experience with large and complex organization

° Skillset — including finance, legal, auditing, government
affairs, public relations, community experience, and
knowledge of the organizations

o In case of nomination for independent non-executive
directors, should consider why the candidate to be
independent (should refer to relevant Listing Rules for
independence)

Give a list of candidates to the full committee for discussion and
review.
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e

The committee then makes contact with each candidate to make
an assessment for a high level of personal and professional integrity,
as well as to assess their level of commitment to the organization,
and availability. This is often done by assigning one member of the
nominating committee to one candidate, who will bring a candidate
summary with recommendations back to the full committee.
Additional interviews by the nominating committee and the CEO
may be necessary to ensure due diligence interviews may be
conducted with the assistance of a third party.

6.  The committee forms a final slate of recommended candidates to
the full board for formal approval. Nominees should not be present
at this meeting to allow for open discussion by the board.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board and the Board diversity policy as well as
discussing matters regarding the retirement and re-election of Directors.

Details of the number of Nomination Committee meeting held and
Directors’ attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of
Meetings and Directors’ Attendance” on pages 22 to 23 of this annual
report.

Accountability and Audit

Directors’ and auditor’s responsibilities for the
consolidated financial statements

All Directors understand and acknowledge their responsibility for ensuring
that the Group's consolidated financial statements for each financial year
are prepared to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs, the
financial results and cash flows of the Group in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance and the applicable
accounting standards. In preparing the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 May 2022, the Board has adopted appropriate and
consistent accounting policies and made prudent, fair and reasonable
judgments and estimates. The Directors are responsible for maintaining
proper accounting records which reflect with reasonable accuracy the
state of affairs, operating results, cash flows and equity movement of the
Group at any time. The Directors confirm that the preparation of the
financial statements of the Group is in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

The Directors also confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern are
disclosed in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary steps
to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and
other irregularities. The statement of auditor about their reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s auditor, are set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 82 to 87 of this annual report.

Auditor's Remuneration

During the year ended 31 May 2022, the remuneration for the audit
service provided by the Company’s auditor to the Group was
HK$650,000.

During the year ended 31 May 2022, the Company’s auditor did not
provide any non-audit service to the Group.

Corporate Governance Functions

No corporate governance committee has been established and the Board
is responsible for performing the corporate governance functions such as
developing and reviewing the Company’s policies, practices on corporate
governance, training and continuous professional development of the
directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, etc.

The Directors review the Group’s corporate governance policies and
compliance with the CG Code each financial year and comply with the
“comply or explain” principle in the corporate governance report which is
or will be included in the annual reports of the Company.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a Board diversity policy in accordance with the
requirement as set out in the CG Code, which is summarised as below:

The Board diversity policy of the Company specifies that in designing the
composition the Board, Board diversity shall be considered from a number
of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills and knowledge.
All Board members’ appointment will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against appropriate criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board. Selection of candidates
for the Board will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including
but not limited to gender, age, culture, ethnicity and educational
background, professional experience, knowledge and skills.

The Company discloses the composition of the Board in corporate
governance report every year and the Nomination Committee oversees
the implementation of the Board diversity policy. The Nomination
Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required, and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and
approval.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on 31 December 2018 which
sets out the principles and measures on how the Company may propose

a dividend.

The Board will account for the following factors when considering the
payment of dividends:

a.  The general financial condition of the Group;

b.  The actual and future operations and liquidity positions of the
Group;

C. The future cash requirements and availability;

d.  Any restrictions on payments of dividends that may be imposed by
the Group’s lenders;

e.  The general market conditions; and

f. Any other factor that the Board deem appropriate.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Any declaration and payment of future dividends under the dividend
policy will be subject to the Board’s determination that the same would
be in the best interests of the Group and the shareholders of the
Company as a whole. In addition, the declaration and payment of
dividends may be subject to legal restrictions or any applicable laws, rules
and regulations and the Articles of Association of the Company.

Securities Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as
its own code of conduct (“Code of Conduct”) regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. The Company has confirmed, having made
specific enquiry of the Directors, that all the Directors have complied with
the Code of Conduct throughout the year ended 31 May 2022 and up to
the date of this annual report.

Communication with Shareholders

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with the
shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings or other
general meetings to communicate with the shareholders and encourage
their participation.

The Company will ensure that there are separate resolutions for separate
issues proposed at the general meetings. All resolutions put forward at
shareholder meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the GEM
Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner after each
shareholder meeting.

The Company will continue to maintain an open and effective investor
communication policy and to update investors on relevant information on
the Group’s business in a timely manner, subject to relevant regulatory
requirements.

General Meetings with Shareholders

The Company's forthcoming annual general meeting will be held on 8
November 2022.
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Shareholders’ Rights

R R A

(@) Convening of an extraordinary general meeting (a) EREREREHARRIZI RS
on requisition by shareholders
Pursuant to Articles, extraordinary general meetings shall be BIEZEMA FANESERBH
convened on the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, BERNLRAAT G RN (AR
at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of BEAS FRANEF) 92 —8
the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at Ffa] — B sk A a9 - FANE A B &
general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the HEEFSRARNESS AR MERH
Board or the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring an EMMERK - ERKEFT2EHBRELER
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the Ke UEBEBHAERKPIEREZFM
transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such FEE: BZACSENEE2ZERE®R
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such BAREBIT - W EBEBRAEER -+ —
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to HR EZe@rka88B%zAe: BlE
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself EERATOUREARARBEE RS
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable E2ERATHREESRGEEZH K
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of eMELENESEERABEHRAAF
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the R PR IMMEAREIER —Z AT EE
Company. Shareholders also have the right to propose a person for EF - ABARFIIRARA R
election as a Director, the procedures are available on the websites MBIt ER
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

(b) Procedures for putting forward proposals at (b) RBEAESEEZE>ER
shareholders’ meetings
Shareholders are welcomed to put forward proposals relating to the NARIENIRRIREAEANEBEE
operations and management of the Group to be discussed at LEeEBENEzZRNREARE FfHmo A
shareholders’ meetings. The proposals shall be sent to the Company AR EESRBERERSTT AW
Secretary by a written requisition. Shareholders who wish to put EZRIBE2EZNIREEER FX[fE
forward a proposal should convene an extraordinary general BEREERKEBRERERAE | FFEA
meeting by following the procedures set out in “Convening of an BAEHEBREER A o
extraordinary general meeting on requisition by shareholders”
above.

(c) Enquiries to the Board (0 MEESHEER

Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board to the extent
such information is publicly available to the Company Secretary
who is responsible for forwarding communications relating to
matters within the Board'’s purview to the executive Directors of the
Company, communications relating to matters within a Board
committee’s area of responsibility to the chairman of the
appropriate committee, and communication relating to ordinary
business matters, such as suggestions, inquiries and consumer
complaints, to the appropriate management of the Company, in
writing to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Investor Relations

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency is a
key to enhancing investor relations. It is committed to a policy of open
and timely disclosure of corporate information to its shareholders and
investment public. The Company updates its shareholders on its latest
business developments and financial performance through its annual,
interim and quarterly reports. The corporate website of the Company
(http://www.intechproductions.com) has provided an effective
communication platform to the public and the shareholders.

Company Secretary

Ms. Leung Yin Fai, the Company Secretary, is responsible for advising the
Board on corporate governance matters and ensuring that the Board
policy and procedures, and the applicable laws, rules and regulations are
followed. All Directors have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary to ensure that the Board procedures and all applicable
laws are followed. Moreover, the Company Secretary is responsible for
facilitating communications among Directors as well as with management.

The Company engages an external service provider, Ms. Leung Yin Fai, as
its Company Secretary. Mr. Ma Lie, chairman of the Board and executive
director of the Company, is the primary contact person whom Ms. Leung
Yin Fai can contact.

During the year ended 31 May 2022, the Company Secretary has
undertaken more than 15 hours of relevant professional training in
compliance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board has overall responsibilities for establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems
of the Group. The Group's systems of risk management and internal
control include a defined management structure with limits of authority,
which is designed to help achieve business objectives, safeguard assets
against unauthorised use or disposition, ensure the maintenance of
proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial
information for internal use or for publication, and ensure compliance
with relevant legislation and regulations. The systems are designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure
in operational systems and achievement of the Group’s objectives.
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XeamE (8

TEE

An organisational structure with operating policies and procedures, lines
of responsibility and delegated authority has been established. The
division/department head of each core operating division/department is
accountable for the conduct and performance of such division/
department within the agreed strategies, which are set by themselves and
the Board together, and reports directly to the Board.

In the course of conducting the business, the Group is exposed to various
types of risks. During the year ended 31 May 2022, the following
principal risks of the Group were identified and classified into strategic
risks, operational risks, financial risks and compliance risks.

Risk Areas Principal Risks
[ e <R 35 FTERRE

AREERY -EEBER THERN
SERERREN BARER - SHROEE
D/ BPAHS B BEEERBRSRE
F @ RASITOBER  B%D BB
MEBERERAR TEEAEERHE -
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BEER  ZERR - MEEBEERE

)
2

Strategic Risks
competition risk, reputation risk

B S [

Operational Risks

2ER R EBOHETR TH ERMRESRTEH

Financial Risks

f%5 R & nBEERAR  EERR  FXER  SMNERBR

Compliance Risks

HRABROGRM  REFARMETPGAK - TiHHEFRR -

Sensitivity to government policies; keeping up with new technologies and customers’ taste; market

BERAR

Insufficient labour supply; workplace injury; disruption of IT system

Liquidity risk, credit risk, interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, inflation risk

- AR R R

Risk related to occupation safety and health; risk of non-compliance with ordinances related to

employment; change of listing rules and relevant company regulations and ordinances

BHRRR HBEXZENEEARORAR

R AR B E B&

The Board is ultimately responsible for the risk management of the Group
and it has delegated to executive management to carry out the risk
identification and monitoring procedures. The objectives of the risk
management are to enhance the governance and corporate management
processes as well as to safeguard the Group against unacceptable levels
of risks and losses.

The risk management process of the Group will involve, among others, (i)
an annual risk identification and analysis exercise which involves
assessment of the consequence and likelihood of risks and the
development of risk management plans for mitigating such risks; and (ii)
an annual review of the implementation of the risk management plans
and fine tuning of the implementation plan when necessary.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

During the year ended 31 May 2022, the Board, through the Audit
Committee, has conducted review of both design and implementation
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group, covering all material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls, with a view to ensuring that resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions are
adequate. In this respect, the Audit Committee communicates any
material issues to the Board.

The Company has hired an internal audit manager to review the Group's
system of internal controls and risk management annually and further
enhance the Group’s internal control and risk management systems as
appropriate.

Code of Conduct and Handling of Inside
Information

The Group places utmost importance on the ethical, personal and
professional standards of the Directors and employees of the Group. In
addition to the various policies adopted and implemented by the Group
imposing certain conduct requirements on Directors and employees, every
employee is required to undertake to adhere to the Group’s Code of
Conduct, and is expected to achieve the highest standards of behavior
including avoiding conflict of interest, discrimination or harassment and
bribery and corruption. Employees are required to report any
noncompliance with the Code of Conduct to management.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Guidelines on Disclosure of
Inside Information published by the Securities and Futures Commission
and the GEM Listing Rules, the Group has an obligation to disclose any
inside information as soon as practicable after such information has come
to the knowledge of the Board. The Company has developed its
disclosure policy which provides a general guide to the Company’s
directors, officers, senior management and relevant employees in
handling confidential information, monitoring information disclosure and
responding to enquiries. Control procedures have been implemented to
ensure that unauthorised access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.
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In addition, if there occurs any significant risk events, the Group will  [tbo) + MEBEAFEMEARBREE  AEE
report such risk events to the relevant authorities so that appropriate R EME RE®REMEERSHEH NELRE
decisions and measures can be made by the Group in a timely mannerto  E g2 %9 X B EE @ & AR T N5 1 DA JB
deal with such risk events. BHREREE-

Looking Forward RBERR

The Group will keep on reviewing its corporate governance standards on ZAEEGEELRBEEFNEDE T RZE

a timely basis and the Board endeavours to take the necessary actionsto MEE 2 BB NNV EEiE - UERF
ensure compliance with the required practices and standards including AR TEERNMEE BHECEEARTIH
the provisions of the CG Code. &7 o
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

I%

About This Report

Purpose and Objectives

This is the 6th Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") Report (“ESG
Report”) of In Technical Productions Holdings Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), which aims to give its
stakeholders a better understanding of its visions, strategies and
implementation of sustainability initiatives that be of interest to its various
stakeholders.

Reporting Period and Scope

The reporting period for this ESG report is from 1 June 2021 to 31 May
2022, and the scope of this ESG Report covers the businesses in Hong
Kong, Macau, and the PRC for the reporting period.

Reporting Standard

The report was prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social,
and Governance Reporting Guide (the “Guide”) as set out in Appendix
20 of the GEM Listing Rules with contents that comply with the disclosure
requirements and principles under the Guide.

Reporting Principles

The Report is prepared and presented based on the following reporting
principles:

o Materiality: Key ESG issues of the Group were identified through
materiality assessment and stakeholder engagement, which has
been disclosed in the ESG Report.

° Quantitative: Information on the standards, methodologies,
assumptions and/or calculation tools used, and source of conversion
factors used, for the reporting of emissions/energy consumption
(where applicable) has been disclosed in the ESG Report.

o Balanced: The ESG Report has provided an unbiased picture of the
Group's performance and has not avoided any selections, omissions
or presentation formats that may inappropriately influence a
decision or judgment by the readers.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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o Consistency: The ESG Report should present information on a
consistent basis that stakeholders can analyze and evaluate changes
in performance over time. The Group will disclose if there are any
changes to the methods or KPIs used, or any other relevant factors
affecting a meaning comparison in its subsequent Report.

Approval

To the best of knowledge, belief and information of the board of
directors of the Company (the “Board”), the Report addresses all relevant
material issues and fairly presents the ESG performance of the Group. The
Board confirms that it has reviewed and approved the Report.

Stakeholder Engagement

The Group strives to maintain supporting and trusting relationships with
its stakeholders. Through diversified communication channels, the Group
can effectively understand and respond to the expectations and
requirements of different stakeholders. The following table summarises
the main expectations and concerns of our key stakeholders and the
corresponding management responses.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022

s —HMRE HEREARBREER
—HWMEEZIER  NERNED
RFERBEERENEL AEE
BREBENBRETREMRKANS
ERAREDERATEELFES
BN EMELEREREEHEM
i o

1

RARRE=ZG((ESED) M MERM
B ABSMAMERBERER YT
2HNAEENRR HERERRR -EF
SHEAHCDEHMERES -

FESR

AEBERNEFNDERFIFRETH
B-BBEZTILNEREE AEBEREAX
HREEENEFNENRERERK T
EMAEERNENTEHRERBIFR
VA N AR FE Y 32 JE [O] FE o
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Stakeholders
&

Expectations and Requirements
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Communication Channels

BBEEE

Investors and Shareholders

BREERER

Suppliers

HrEmE

Customers

BP

Government

B

Employees

o

=

A

Community

it

° Corporate Governance
° Returns
o Company Values

. pEEn
. ER
. ARMEME

. Code of Conduct
° Assessment Criteria

. BT
o R

3 Service and Product Quality
o Customer Services

e RBREREE
o EPRB

° Compliance
o Equality of Employments
o Occupational Safety

s &AM
s ERETE
s BE%

° Compensation
o Occupational Health and Safety
o Career Development

o #E

e BIXBEER

o BIX¥RK

o Information Transparency
o EMEBEHE

o Annual General Meetings

o Announcements and Circulars
. Financial Reports

o ESG Reports
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e RE HEREARE

3 Company Website

o Emails

o Phone calls and Meetings
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o BEkEgE

o Company Website

o Emails

3 Phone calls and Meetings
e  RAEIMY
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. BEREE

o Notices

o Emails

o ESG Report
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o Trainings

o Internal Meetings
o Emails and Notices
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3 Company Website
o Announcements
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RE -tgkegams(E)

Environmental Protection

The Group attaches great importance to environmental protection and
also implements sustainable initiatives in areas such as energy saving,
water saving, waste management, air quality management into its daily
operations so as to minimize the use of resources and reduce various
emissions. The Group complied with applicable laws and regulations,
including the Environmental Protection Law of PRC and Guideline on the
Applicability of the Noise Control Ordinance in Hong Kong.

Emissions

Hazardous and Non-hazardous Waste

The Group is principally engaged in providing visual display solution,
we consume limited natural resources to operate and therefore
have a relatively low environmental impact, furthermore, the Group
does not produce significant volume of hazardous waste from the
daily business process. The major wastes are solid non-hazardous
wastes such as office paper generated from the Group’s operations.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

The Group implemented a number of measures to reduce
greenhouse gas emissions in order to alleviate the impacts to the
environment. The Group also encourages employees to maximize
the use of electronic communication and carry out general
discussions and communication through long-distance telephone
calls or other online communication tools in order to reduce non-
essential business trips and avoid increasing the pollutants emitted
by the use of transportation.

The major sources of air and greenhouse gas (GHG) emission that
the Group associated are energy consumptions in regard to the
purchased electricity used in the Group’s offices and daily operation.

The total GHG generated by the Group during the reported period
ended 31 May 2022 were 43,109 Kg CO,-eq, comprising direct
emission from motor vehicle gasoline, indirect emission from
purchased electricity and other indirect emission from fresh water
usage.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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Use of Resource

The Group is committed to conserving resources for the purposes
of protecting the environment and enhancing operation efficiency.
To pursue the Group’s commitment of environmental protection,
the Group has implemented multiple measures in enhancing energy
efficiency, minimizing the use of paper, reducing water and energy
consumption and driving behavioural changes of employees.
Through active monitoring and managing the use of resources, the
Group aims to reduce the Group's operating costs as well as our
carbon footprint.

The following procedures and operation guideline were designed to
conserve resources:

Energy

° Room lights and air conditioners must be switched off when
they are not in use.

o Use of natural light is maximized as far as practical.

° Use separate light switches for different light zones.

° Air-conditioner filter and fan coil are cleaned regularly.

Water
° Water taps are constantly checked to avoid the water dipping.

o Leakage tests on concealing piping and checking for
overflowing tanks are regularly carried out.

Other Office Consumable
° Stationaries are distributed on a needed basis and reusable
stationaries are employed.

. Other than formal documents, paperless working environment
is promoted in the Group.

° Recycled papers are encouraged to be used whenever possible
when photocopy for internal documentation.

o Used ink cartridges are either recycled through public recycle
bin or collected by suppliers.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
B L' R R RS (R)

The Environmental and Natural Resources RERAAER
e The nature of the Group's business does not involve in any s AEEXBUMERNIRERER
significant impacts on the environmental and natural AREBREEFWNERTE -&E
resources. The relevant principles and policies on managing BEHHMEEREBNERRI X
emission and use of resources are already disclosed above. BERERN EXHIHEE -
lll. Environmental Performance Indicator n. RBENRIEE
In accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide set out by the Stock BEBHSHAHESE T2 kEE8HM
Exchange, the data of the “Emission” and “Use of Resource” of the LSS AEBRHESEHBEO K
Group during the reporting period as follows. MIRITERERBIBBAOT -
Emission Ez 387
Year ended Year ended
Energy use and emission BE R f6E A R HE R Units 31 May 2022 31 May 2021
BZE HZE
—EB-—F —E-—%F
EFA=+—H HA=+—H
By ItFE IEFE
Electricity BN kWh 9,416 63,607
T FL B
Intensity of energy IR E kWh/employee 200 848
TERK 1EE
Motor Vehicle Gasoline YRE A A L 5,422 4,228
9'_|_
Intensity of energy EREE L/employee 115 56
A RE
GHG B = R Kg CO,-eq 43,109 54,287
Fr_ftRES
Intensity of GHG RERBEE Kg CO,-eg/employee 912 724
FrR-_GREESE
(==
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RiE @ kERWE (B

Social

Use of Resource BERER
Year ended Year ended
Resource use EREA Units 31 May 2022 31 May 2021
BZE HE
—E-= =55 = =4s
EA=+t—-HB HEA=+—H
BN LtFE IEFE
Water 7K m’ 78 394
Intensity of water consumption F/K % E m*/employee 1.66 5
MFHKEER
=
[=]
Employment and Labour Practice BREEZIER

The Group recognizes the Group’s success and market leadership
are closely linked to the support from our dedicated, hard-working
and task-oriented employees. The Groups recognizes that
employees are the Group’s most valuable assets and vital to
achieving the Group's sustainability and long-term growth.

The Group strictly abide by all applicable laws and regulations in
locations where it operates, including but not limited to the “Labour
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Labour Law
of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Law on Protection of
Minors of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Law of Prevention
and Control of Occupational Diseases of the People’s Republic of
China” and Employment Ordinance (Cap 57 of the Laws of Hong
Kong). We forbade all kinds of non-compliance employment, forced
labour and child labour. During the reporting period, the Group
was not aware of any material non-compliance concerning
employment-related laws and regulations in all area of operation.

The Group is also committed to safeguarding the legitimate rights
and interests of employees, maintaining their physical and mental
health and providing various benefit, in addition to providing vast
opportunities of career development for every employee, striving to
match employee’s personal and business development goals of the
Group through a comprehensive training system, effective incentive
mechanism and fair competition platform, so that the mutual
benefits for employees and the enterprise can be achieved.

AEBERR AEENKRY LTS E
S EEFEENER  FHTIE
RMEBELRTHIXRKEERE - K
SERS EENASEREENE
E UAKERERRAERENE
Fo

AEEBRBTEEMELNAAEE
RZERIER  BRETRM(PEA
REMBBEHARZE) (PEARHK
MESEE) (PEARKMBERK
FAREZR) (PEARKFMBEBRE
mERE) RKBE G (BRE AN S
S7E) - RMELEEERER BE
BIRBET -RHBEEHE A5EY
THRERMEZERBAEARER
RIERBBERFERNER -

AEBTHRAORBEINGERER
HEETHWILRE RESER
Mo EESE-UETRHEROR
XURKE BBATENEIER.
BEROHBEIEAFRFFE B
NEETRARASEEEERBE
MBI BERETHMCENENHE-
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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46

Employment Practice

The Group is committed to build a harmonious working atmosphere
for employees through encouraging mutual respect which
ultimately promotes work creativity, flexibility and commitment.

As at 31 May 2022, the Group had 45 (2021: 75) employees. In
order to cope with the continuously growing of business scale, the
Group acquires talents from different aspects and backgrounds to
join the Group's globalized team. The Group strictly complies with
the relevant laws and regulations in the Group’s employment
process, such as recruitment, dismissal, promotion and setting up of
remuneration packages of employees regardless of where the
Group operates. The legitimate rights and interests of employees
are protected in accordance with laws and regulations.

BREER

AEEF IR EBZBHHEEBEE B
BEZEMBETHERE RN LR
= IERIEN - BIRIE A -

R-_F-__FHAA=+—H8 F5E
BHB(ZE_—F:15%)EE- R
RERBRERNEBRE  AEER
MIARTEESNATMALEH
MEREBERN - BRAREERELE
BER $$@EE%@&¢ A
B RE BHAARIEBENHMG
BEERBEBTHBEIELEZR - ER
VRIAE S X R R KRB TR

£
Employment 1E1E
e The Group attaches great importance to the basic rights and e AKREFESEEBEBSHENE
interests of the employees, the entering into of employment N HEFAEEIVEEAR

contracts with all employees, and the provision of relevant
social insurances and employee’s compensation insurance and
medical insurance to all employees.

° The Group is an equal opportunities employer, committed to
eliminating sex, age, race, disability and religious
discrimination in employment and emphasizing on the
performance and experience of the staffs in promotion or
recruitment. A fair and structural staff performance
assessment is set for making promotion and salary increment
decisions. Staff appraisal will be conducted annually to assess
work performance.

There was no non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare noted in year ended
31 May 2022.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RBE -HERERWMSET(E)

The following table sets out the workforce by gender, employment TRHEIWR-_BE_—_FRA=1+—H
type, age group and geographical region and as at 31 May 2022 BHR - EEER - AR e
and the employee turnover rate by gender, employment type, age EFZOHNLSHURBE-_SE - —

group and geographical region for the year ended 31 May 2022: ERE=+—RAIEERHER - EE

%EE'J*E < 48 Bl K2 3 32 (& 33 El 5 B (B
Workforce Employee turnover
Headcount rate%
BEHBEAH BEERKREY
Gender 51
Male 51 38 78.9
Female 74 7 0
Employment type & & 48 Al
Administrative staff THREER 7 0
Operation staff EiEREE 38 78.9
Age group FHe 4 R
30 and below 305 S A T 13 107.7
31-40 313%-407% 19 78.9
41-50 41 B%-50 5% 11 9.1
Above 50 5073 A E 2 —
Geographical region b 32 [ 15,
Hong Kong B8 13 15.4
PRC 1 23 117.4
Macau el 9 1.1
Health and Safety EREEZE
e The Group is dedicated to providing a healthy and safe s XAEEBHAREEERME—(ER

workplace to its employees. The promotion of occupational
and health measures at workplace are regarded as essential
to our businesses and operations of the Group. The Group
committed to undertaking various occupational health and
safety measures to relevant laws and regulations, including
but not limited to the Law of People’s Republic of China on
the Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases and
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap 509 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). Appropriate occupational and health
manuals relevant to the Group’s businesses are adopted by
the core business units. Risk assessments of workstations are
conducted constantly to identify and assess the risks to the
safety and health of the employees, and to decide whether
existing measures are adequate.

FELZE2M TS - RIESH
HEBEXBREEERSARER
BREENERRE - AR EA
ARBERBEEIERRRER
BEEFareiEg 8FEeT
R EARKMER XKD
BRI R E R 2 RIEERA)D
(BEABEDIES09E) T HE
BEME RMEAR B XK
MERBREETM SEHE
75 uh B 1T R R R 44 - PAR R B
FEEREZERER S ENE
- THREREEEESEHN -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
B L' R R RS (R)

First aid kits are located at convenient locations and are
properly maintained in the office, workshop(s) and
warehouse(s).

Workplace safety posters were display at prominent location
in the warehouse(s) of the Group to remind the staff of
safety.

There was no non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards noted in year 2021/22.

The following table sets out the number and rate of work-related
fatalities of the Group for the year ended 31 May 2022:

e MPHPLRE BHLEEALEASF
MUERESHE YZESH

%%O
e RAKEREMBERMUERKT

ESMLe8Hm REIEAE
EERE -

R-F-/Z_FE BEERS
MR LZ2THERERRERERR
BECENEBEAERESR -

TEBIBE-_FE--—FHRA=+—
A4 A B A TR E e e 4
ABR K

Headcount Rate

BAH [z 3

Work-related fatalities TEBEMmET — =
For the year ended 31 May 2022, the Group has not incurred any FEF = FEEEE = — B e 4

lost days due to work injury.

Development and Training

The Group believes that training is an important path to
improve the overall work quality and offer comprehensive
development to the employees. The Group encourages our
employees to attend external or internal training courses to
enhance their competence and job-related knowledge.

Experienced/Senior employees will provide supervision to the
newcomers/subordinates in order to enhance communication
and team spirits within the Group, and to improve their
technical skills and managerial capability.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RBE -HERERWMSET(E)

The following table sets out the percentage of employees trained TEZHIIAEEHEE_S_—FFH A

by gender and employment type and the average training hours =+—BIEFERERNXERERNSZ

completed per employee by gender and employment type of the PHXIEE B D RIRMER RERE

Group for the year ended 31 May 2022: HRIE SN EBREE =K TN
B

Percentage of  Average training hours
employees trained completed per employee

BEEETAZIN

ZIEEBES L 15 B 8
% Hour
BAk 53 S
Gender 1l
Male S 6 35
Female 74 1 3.5
Employment type R 1B Al
Administrative staff 1TEE & 0 0
Operation staff EiERE 7 3.5
Labour Standard BT
e The Group respects human rights and has a zero-tolerance e AEEZEHE AR HERRSGSE
policy towards the employment of forced labour and child IREIRDMEZRBE - AR
labour. Upon joining the Group, each staff is required to fill in AEER - BEEIHERE —H
a recruitment form. Should the staff provide false identity or BEXE -HMEIREERS K
false personal particulars, he/she would be considered to have SERBEAER  BHESEAKRE
committed serious breach of the Group’s rules and regulations BRAKE R B RGNz B
and his/her employment would be terminated immediately. RIEEEAR -
There was no non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations BHE_ZT__FRA=1+—BLF
relating to preventing child and forced labour noted in year ended E-HEEREENILERAEIRR
31 May 2022. il 45 T B9 A8 BE A 12 RROEH ©
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
B L' R R RS (R)

Operating Practice

Supply Chain Management

The goods from the suppliers must be checked by the Group’s
qualified engineer for product quality and safety and will be
stored in our warehouse.

All parts suppliers of our electronic equipment must comply
with national or international safety standard.

If the suppliers fail to maintain the safety standard of their
products, the Group will eliminate the aforesaid supplier from

the approved supplier list.

Annual supplier evaluation will be conduct by management.

Product Responsibility

The Group poses a fair marketing concept that commits not
making dishonest allegation of our competitors in order to
mislead the customers during their decision-making.
Moreover, the Group would not acquire confidential
information of a competitor via espionage, the subordination
of the competitor's employees or through any other improper
means.

The Group has committed to supply the goods and services
that meet the reasonable expectations of our customers. We
provide customers with effective mechanism to lodge
complaints and manage such complaints with due care.
Besides, the Group respects the confidentiality of our
customers and their commercial information. We do not
disclose such information to protect their privacy.

There was no non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations

relating to health,

safety, advertising, bid-rigging and privacy

matters relating to products and services provided and methods of
redress noted in year ended 31 May 2022.

Privacy Protection

The Group strictly complied with The Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance (Cap 486 of Laws of Hong Kong)

The Group committed to upholding intellectual property
rights. All employees were educated and expected to protect
intellectual property rights and avoid any infringement.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE HERELHRS (E)

Anti-corruption

The Group strictly complied with applicable laws and
regulations in relation to corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud
and money laundering, including but not limited to the Laws
of Anti Competition of the People’s Republic of China, the
Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China and Prevention
of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong.

The Group refuses bribery, corruption, extortion and money
laundering activities. Employees shall report any misconduct
to its manager. A whistle-blowing email has been setup for
reporting such incidents and senior management will be
responsible for investigation if deem necessary.

The Group is listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange and
has strict guidelines for directors and senior management for
any disclosure of conflict of interest. Besides, directors or
senior management are required to take certain hours of
training each year.

There was no non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations

k&S

AEEERBTERES B

B8R BAEREERENER
FERRER BREETRRI(P

EARANMBRBEFR) (PE
AR KB TE) & & B L F
BRI

AEEEBHE B PRK
KRB EERAKLERSE

EﬂT\”‘ﬁﬁ'r NEE DR E
EBUAHEREEAEHE e
i&aﬁf‘ﬂ%%ﬁ&bgﬁﬁ 1798
75 o
RNEEREZAMGEM LT - B &t
HEELSREEEHTEREN
MzmBRIEERES - SN EEF
SR EEEEF AR — TR

sl o

e e e T el = e

B -MEEREEER $R-
KR BRENBBEREIER

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering noted in (3

year ended 31 May 2022.

. COMMUNITY n. &
Community Investment HERE

e Social responsibility is one of the Group's cultures. We are . igf&'xe$'§ B bRy E A —

committed to striving for the betterment of society and hold cHMBM AN AREL TR
strongly the belief that a business organization should not ﬁﬁ%&%ﬁ%%ﬂ%ﬁT\ﬁEH}i%ﬁ 25
detach itself from its social responsibility. £

o The Group encourage its employee to participate in voluntary . AREESEHEELR=HE T/EE -
activities in order to give back to the society and people in NEBEtEREREALT
need.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
B L' R R RS (R)

Index to the ESG Reporting Guide (RE - HEREAREEINARE
5

Area: Environmental El =

Disclosure Indicator Section

BKEER =4}

A1: Emissions General Disclosure  Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance  Emission

with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.
1 BER —RIE FRBERMBZERBEENR MAKREIHOEEST .  HHY

EENEEREEYVHNELSHN  @QEE: kbE
THETABEAZENHBZZRRINE

%t o

A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emission

A1.1 HEr i R R A B U - 719587

A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where  Environmental
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production Performance
volume, per facility). Indicator

A1.2 BERBRAFRECAMAE) R(MER)EE REEXEE

(WA SES8EMN  BHEHRETE) -

A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tons) and where  Emission
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production

volume, per facility).
A1.3 FEAXAEEEEMAE ABTE) R(WER)E Bl

BN SESEMN  BHEREE) -

Al.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tons) and,  Emission
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

Al.4 FMEEREEEYAE UEa8) R (WER)E WY
BN EBESEMN SERETHE)

A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and  Emission
results achieved.

/Ap5 RO ESF R ENEERAFRR - 719587

A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous  Emission
wastes are handled, reduction initiatives and results
achieved.

A1.6 HARBEREENEZTEEZEYN L REEELEE  BEHRY

REE NS E -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE HERELHRS (E)

Disclosure Indicator Section
BEER E=4:0]
A2: Use of General Disclosure  Policies on the efficient use of resources, including  Use of Resource
Resources energy, water and other raw materials.
A2 BRER —RERE EREAER(BERER KEEMRERMEOEK BRER
= o
A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g.  Environmental
electricity, gas or ail) in total (kWh) and intensity (e.g. Performance
per unit of production volume, per facility). Indicator
A2.1 RENES>MEER SIBEEER(WNE Rl REEREE
H)RFEE (AN TFETERAE) RBEE(WAGE
BB BERMBHE) -
A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per  Environmental
unit of production volume, per facility). Performance
Indicator
A2.2 BREKERTE(WASEEEMN BERKES REAWER
&)
A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and  Use of Resource
results achieved.
A2.3 fE g IR0 A e st 8 R PTG RO R © BIRER
A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing  N/A
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency
initiatives and results achieved.
A2.4 HAKEERKR EAIEEMER  URRAR TEA
KR Bl RFTB AR »
A2.5 Total packaging materials used for finished products (in ~ N/A
tons) and, where appropriate, with reference to per
unit produced.
A2.5 B mAAABEMBRNESE (UEFE) R(nE TEA
R)BEESEMEE-
A3: Environmental General Disclosure  Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact ~ Emission
and Natural on the environment and natural resources.
Resources
A3 :IRIER — AR EE AR ﬁAﬁ%f&%%QE EREARTEN B
RAEIR 128
A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on ~ The Environmental
the environment and natural resources and the and Natural
actions taken to manage them. Resources
A3.1 HAEBEBHHRELRAERNEAZER RERRKAER

EXNEEABTZENTE -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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54

Area: Social HE:He
Disclosure Indicator Section
WEEE =41

Employment and Labour Standard

ERRSE TERA

B1: Employment

General Disclosure

Information on the policies and compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

Employment and
Labour Practice

B1: fB1E —RE®E EATGWREE BEREA TERE - B EBERBEISH

B FEge St RESAREMFER
BAMBE RETHBRTABEATENIEH
EERBOIMER -

B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age  Employment
group and geographical region. Practice

B1.1 ZER - EREL - FREANEMEESHNEE EFEZHR
HEN -

B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and  Employment
geographical region. Practice

B1.2 ZUR > FRANEMESSNEERKLE - BIRE R

B2: Health and
Safety

General Disclosure

Information on the policies and compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe
working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

Health and Safety

B2: REHELE —KREKE EFRRHUHZ2IFRRERRBEEEREBENE EREZSD
BENRR METHETAGEAZENHEER
ERERIRBINER
B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities. Health and Safety
B2.1 ATIEREEMILTH AR KL - EEREEZE
B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety
B2.2 HAIGEATIERH - REREZE
B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety  Health and Safety
measures adopted, how they are implemented and
monitored.
B2.3 AP RBRERLT 2HE URBEY RBERERZSE

TTRERITE-
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE HERELHRS (E)

Disclosure Indicator Section

BREER ;0]

B3: Development  General Disclosure  Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and  Development and

and Training skills for discharging duties at work. Description of Training
training activities.
B3: HEKIEI —MREE FRARAEEBTIEBRENAZRRENER R REI
R M IEIES o
B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and  Development and
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle Training
management).
B3.1 RUEBIREERMN(NSRERE PREEE ZHRKEI
F)EONXIEEBD L o
B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee  Development and
by gender and employee category. Training
B3.2 RUERNEEEREMNE D  BREETARIINF BHRKEI
15 B B o
B4: Labour General Disclosure  Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance  Labour Standard
Standard with relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing
child and forced labour.

B4 : 55 T AR — AR EE BERAMLEETHRFSTH : QEEK: kb)ET HTITER
HBETABEAZENHBEZRRONEFR -

B4.1 Description of measures to review employment  Labour Standard
practices to avoid child and forced labour.
B4.1 st BEEMNEEARREET R®EGE S TR
gL ©
B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices  Labour Standard
when discovered.
B4.2 A EZRRERBEASERABBRMAKNE & IR
g
Operation Practice
&EEH
B5: Supply Chain  General Disclosure  Policies on managing environmental and social risks  Supply Chain
Management of the supply chain. Management
SoHEBEER —RIRE ERHERNRREREERARBUR - HEEER
B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. The Group will
provide this
recommended
disclosure next
year
B5.1 iR E S EREE - RAEBBRTE
ERHERBZ
&R E R
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Disclosure Indicator Section
REER =4}

B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, ~ Supply Chain
number of suppliers where the practices are being Management
implemented, how they are implemented and
monitored.

B5.2 MAERAERMHERNED mERTAEHAED HEREERE
MHERHE UARFEBAEHINRITRERT
=

B6: Product General Disclosure  Information on the policies and compliance with  Product

Responsibility

B6: EmE1E

— R

B6.1

B6.1

B6.2

B6.2

B6.3

B6.3

B6.4

B6.4

B6.5

B6.5

relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of
redress.

ERMRHEERNRBNEEEZE  BEES &
BERLBREEARBRITENKE  RETH %
TABERZENHEBERRAIINER -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject
to recalls for safety and health reasons.
EERCDEXEMBHETRREREEHM
AR AL -

Number of products and service-related complaints
received and how they are dealt with.

BREENERNMRBHRFHRE AREE X -

Description of practices relating to observing and

protecting intellectual property rights.
M EREENRENZEEGTBANED -

Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.

Wi EEewEBEREMDKER -

Description of consumer data protection and privacy
poIicies how they are implemented and monitored.
R BEERRERLEBEE - ARAEEHAIT
&%%H&
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE e kEnmE (E)

Disclosure Indicator

BREER

Section

;0]

B7: Anti-corruption General Disclosure

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance
with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.

Anti-corruption

B7 : RES —RE®E EAEMILEHE R MFRERENQBEX: RAES
EOETHETABEAZENHBEEZRR
Bl &) & K} o
B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt  Anti-corruption
practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the
cases.
B7.1 RERBAHBTAXAEERENIEREN RES
BAFRRENEE RFRER -
B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-  Anti-corruption
blowing procedures, how they are implemented and
monitored.
B7.2 FPrESE e R EmER - URHEERTRER RES
Rk
Community
#HE
B8: Community  General Disclosure  Policies on community engagement to understand ~ Community
investment the needs of communities where the issuer operates
and to ensure its activities take into consideration the
communities” interests.
B8 : ttEIRE — R E FEANTR2ERBERBETALENELRT HE
ENBREXBEHEERLENSABE -
B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, Community
environmental concerns, labour needs, health,
culture, sport).
B8.1 ETERER(INHE BEFEHE LIFK - HE
Xt -858)-
B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the ~ Community
focus area.
B8.2 EEIHBEMBAER(NSERER) o ftE
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Report of the Board of Directors

EEEHRE

The Directors are pleased to present their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 May 2022.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 36 to the audited consolidated
financial statements. The Group is principally engaged in the provision of
visual display solution services for concerts and events in Hong Kong,
Macau, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"”) and Taiwan.

Results and Dividends

The financial performance of the Group for the year ended 31 May 2022
and the financial position of the Group as at that date are set out in the
audited consolidated financial statements on pages 90 to 91 of this
annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect
of the year ended 31 May 2022.

Financial Summary

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five years is set out on page 160 of this annual report.
Significant Investments and Future Plans for
Material Investments and Capital Assets

During the year ended 31 May 2022, the Group did not have any
significant investments, material acquisitions nor disposal of subsidiaries,
associates and joint venture.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group

during the year ended 31 May 2022 are set out in note 17 to the audited
consolidated financial statements.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

Bank Borrowings

Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group at 31 May 2022 are set out
in note 25 to the audited consolidated financial statements.

Interest Capitalised

The Group has not capitalised any interest during the year ended 31 May
2022.

Share Capital

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year
ended 31 May 2022 are set out in note 28 to the audited consolidated
financial statements.

Reserves

Details of movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year ended 31 May 2022 are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and note 29(a) to the audited consolidated financial
statements respectively.

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 May 2022, the reserves of the Company available for distribution
to shareholders amounted to HK$38,462,121. Under the Companies Law
of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of the Company may be
applied for paying distributions or dividends to shareholders subject to
the provisions of the Company’s articles of association and provided that
immediately following the payment of distributions or dividends, the
Company shall be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed Securities

The Company did not redeem its listed securities, nor did the Company or
any of its subsidiaries purchase, cancel or sell any of such listed securities
for the year ended 31 May 2022.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

E=gHE (@)

Directors

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 May 2022 and
up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Ma Lie (Chairman)
Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis
Mr. Tam Chun Yu

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Yue
Mr. Cui Hai Bin
Mr. Ji Gui Bao
Ms. Jiang Yu E

Pursuant to article 108(a) of the Articles, at each annual general meeting,
at least one-third of the Directors shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible
for re-election.

Confirmation of Independence

Each independent non-executive Director has given the Company an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the independent non-
executive Directors are independent and meet the independent guidelines
set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Directors’ Service Contracts and Letters of
Appointment

(a) Executive Directors

Each of the executive Directors entered into a service contract with
the Company for a term of three years, which may be terminated
by not less than one month’s notice served by either party on the
other. The term of service of a Director is subject to retirement by
rotation of Directors as set out in the Articles.

(b)

Independent non-executive Directors

Each of the independent non-executive Directors signed a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years, which
may be terminated by not less than one month’s notice served by
either party on the other. The term of service of a Director is subject
to the provisions on retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in
the Articles.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed to have
a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries (other than
contracts expiring or determinable by the Company or its subsidiaries, as
applicable within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation).

Emoluments of Directors and Five Highest Paid
Individuals

The emolument of the Directors is recommended by the Remuneration
Committee by reference to the benchmarking of the market. The
Company also looks into individual Director's competence, duties,
responsibilities, performance.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in notes 13(a) and 13(b) to the
audited consolidated financial statements.

Directors’ and Senior Management'’s Biographies

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 77 and 81 of this annual report.

Directors’ and Controlling Shareholders’ Interests
in Contracts

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the Directors or an entity
connected with any of them had any material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in
relation to the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, parent company or subsidiaries of the parent company was a
party and subsisting at any time during or at the end of the year ended
31 May 2022.

As at 31 May 2022, no contract of significance had been entered into
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling
shareholders of the Company or any of their subsidiaries.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)
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Director’s Rights to Acquire Shares or Debt
Securities

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year ended
31 May 2022 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, or any of its
fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or
chief executive of the Company (including their spouses or children under
18 years of age) to have any right to subscribe for securities of the
Company or any of its specified undertakings as defined in the
Companies (Directors’ Report) Regulation or to acquire benefits by means
of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

Management Contracts

As at 31 May 2022, the Company did not enter into or have any
management and/or administration contracts in respect of the whole or
any principal business of the Company.

Directors’ and Controlling Shareholders’ Interests
in Competing Business

During the year ended 31 May 2022 and up to the date of this annual
report, the Directors are not aware of any business and interest of the
Directors nor the controlling shareholders of the Company nor any of
their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) that
compete or may compete with the business of the Group and any other
conflict of interests which any such person has or may have with the
Group from the Listing Date to the date of this annual report.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

Compliance of Non-Competition Undertakings

Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis, Mr. Chang Yu-shu, UCP Co., Ltd, Ms. Ching
Hsiang-yun and Next Vision (the “Controlling Shareholders”) entered into
a deed of non-competition dated 22 May 2017 (the “Deed of Non-
Competition”) in favour of the Company (for itself and each of its
subsidiaries), pursuant to which each of the Controlling Shareholders has,
unconditionally and irrevocably, undertaken to the Company in the Deed
of Non-Competition that he/she/it will not, and will procure his/her/its
close associates (other than members of the Group) not to, for himself/
herself/itself or jointly with or acting for any other person, firm or
company as shareholder(s), director(s), partner(s), agent(s), employee(s) or
otherwise, and whether or not for profit, remuneration or other purpose,
directly or indirectly be involved or engaged in or undertake any business
(other than the business of the Group) that directly or indirectly competes,
or may compete, with the Group'’s business or undertaking (the “Restricted
Activity”), or hold shares or interest in any companies or business that
compete directly or indirectly with the business engaged by the Group
from time to time except where the Controlling Shareholders and/or his/
her/its close associates hold less than 5% of the total issued shares of any
company (whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange or other stock
exchange) which is engaged in any business that is or may be in
competition with any business engaged by any member of the Group and
they do not control 10% or more of the composition of the board of
directors of such company.

Further, each of the Group’s Controlling Shareholders has undertaken
that if any new business investment or other business opportunity relating
to the Restricted Activity (the “Competing Business Opportunity”) is
identified by or made available to him/her/it or any of his/her/its close
associates, he/shef/it shall, and shall procure that his/her/its close associates
shall, refer such Competing Business Opportunity to the Company on a
timely basis.

For further details of the Deed of Non-Competition, please refer to the
section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders — Non-
Competition Undertakings” in the Prospectus.

Each of the Controlling Shareholders has confirmed to the Company of
his/her/its compliance with the Deed of Non-Competition from the Listing
Date up to the date of this annual report. The independent non-executive
Directors have reviewed the status of compliance and confirmed that all
the undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition have been
complied by each of the Controlling Shareholders from the Listing Date
to the date of this annual report.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)
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EERERECEE
(@) EEREFETBRAERADT

Disclosure of Directors’ Interests

(a) Interests and short positions of Directors and chief

64

executive in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations

As at the date of this annual report, the interests and short
positions of the Directors or the chief executive of the Company in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were required (i) to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part V of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered into the register required
to be kept therein; or (iii) pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules relating to securities transactions by directors to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as
follows:

(i) Interests in the Company

REMEBZENRMD  HEK
NREERTHNEER AR

RAERAH EERARaHST
BMAEBRARRKEHBEEZE(ES
REHFRBEKGEXVER) HRRMD -
R (D R AEEZ R AR EES
MEEEAEVEEIRSS HAENEG
ARRRBIFOER KRR (BIE
BIEBLHERHEEE BIEXWEE
R BEENERLAR)  RRE
BE RS KM FE352E BT A ZIE
REFBEZETMOERSR AR &
(iii) 1R #& GEM £ 11 4R Bl 5 5.46 1 £ 5.67
KEBEZESRXZRUBANE AR
AR FTHRER IR T ¢

() ArAEZR

Number of
Shares Percentage of
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest (Note 1) shareholding
v gz
EEHE B EatE (BF3E1) ERESL
Mr. Ma Lie Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 2) 440,000,000 (L) 55.0%
BRIk A ZESEE R (M 5E2)
Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 3) 80,000,000 (L) 10.0%
HEE LA 2 A B i s (BT EE3)
Ms. Jiang Yu E Beneficial Owner 1,950,000 (L) 0.24%
EEHzt EmEA A
Notes: Bt 3% -

1. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

25 ST Ma. Ltd is wholly owned by Mr. Ma Lie, an executive director and
controlling shareholder of the Company.

3. Next Vision was beneficially owned by Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis as to
75%. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis was deemed to
be interested in the Shares held by Next Vision.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

(ii) Interest in associated corporation of the Company

Name of
Name of Director

associated corporation Capacity

gRE (8)

(i) RARBEEEETER

Number of
shares Percentage of
(Note 1) shareholding

g g=|

EEHA B EEE B g% (FF=E) ERES X
Mr. Ma Lie ST Ma. Ltd (Note 2) Beneficial owner 50,000,000 (L) 100.0%
BRlse & ST Ma. Ltd (Fff 5£2) EniEE A

Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis ~ Next Vision (Note 3) Beneficial owner 7,500 (L) 75.0%
BIEE & Next Vision (Fff 5 3) EnfEA A

Notes: o E -

1. The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

2. ST Ma. Ltd is wholly owned by Mr. Ma Lie, an executive director and
controlling shareholder of the Company.

3. Next Vision held 75% of issued Shares and was therefore a holding
company of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual report, none
of the Directors or the chief executive of the Company had any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required (i) to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part V of the SFO (including interests and/or
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered into the register required to be kept therein; or (iii)
pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to
securities transactions by directors to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange.
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(b) Interests and short positions of the substantial (b) FERREREMALTRAELQTF

66

shareholders and other persons in the shares and RO REBROPNERZR
underlying shares of the Company KB

As at the date of this annual report, so far as it is known to the
Directors, the following persons (not being a Director or chief
executive of the Company) had or were deemed to have interests
or short positions in Shares or underlying Shares which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO, or which would fall to be disclosed under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest

RAFZRBEM BEEHMA THA
T(XRRREFLARRITHABRIN)
RBERMDHEEROPEERERERE
BARERARBREEZ RBEK
BIZE3B6IRMERFEMNEM » KR
BESMABKRIEXVEHBE2RINH
EXMATAKENESKAR -

Number of

Shares held/
Interested Percentage of
(Note 1) shareholding

BAEBEA
R B
BEAE
BREE BH HEEUE (P &E1) FRESHL
ST Ma. Ltd (Note 2) Beneficial owner 440,000,000 (L) 55.0%
ST Ma. Ltd (Fff 5£2) EmiAA
Next Vision (Note 3) Beneficial owner 80,000,000 (L) 10.0%
Next Vision (Fff &£ 3) BEuHEEA
Notes: B &E
1. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares. 1. FRLIAREZHBALTRBHDFRHER -
2 ST Ma. Ltd is wholly owned by Mr. Ma Lie, an executive director and controlling 2 STMa. Ltd H A AR TEE RIERE R
shareholder of the Company. BErEE2BHER -
&k Next Vision was beneficially owned by Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis as to 75%. 3. Next Vision 55 5 3 e A B2 B 75% ©

By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis was deemed to be interested in
the Shares held by Next Vision.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual report, the
Directors have not been notified by any person who had interests or
short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the
register required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, or
which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

Share Option Scheme

The then sole shareholder of the Company conditionally adopted on 19
May 2017 the Share Option Scheme. A summary of the principal terms of
the Share Option Scheme is set out as follows:

1. Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme prepared in
accordance with Chapter 23 of the Listing Rules and is established
to recognise and acknowledge the contributions that the Eligible
Participants (as defined below) had or may have made to the
Group. The Share Option Scheme will provide the Eligible
Participants (as defined below) an opportunity to have a personal
stake in the Company with the view to achieving the following
objectives: (i) motivate the Eligible Participants (as defined below) to
optimise their performance efficiency for the benefit of the Group;
and (i) attract and retain or otherwise maintain an on-going
business relationship with the Eligible Participants (as defined
below) whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the long-
term growth of the Group.

2. Participants of the Share Option Scheme

The Board may, at its discretion, offer to grant an option to the
following persons (collectively the “Eligible Participants”) to
subscribe for such number of new Shares as the Board may
determine: (i) any full-time or part-time employees, executives or
officers of the Company or any of its subsidiaries; (i) any directors
(including non-executive directors and independent non-executive
directors) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries; and (iii) any
advisers, consultants, suppliers, customers, distributors and such
other persons who, in the sole opinion of the Board, will contribute
or have contributed to the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries.
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Total number of Shares available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme and percentage of
issued Shares

As at the Latest Practicable Date, no share option has been granted
under the Share Option Scheme. The maximum number of Shares
in respect of which options may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and under any other share option schemes of the Company
must not in aggregate exceed 80,000,000 Shares, representing
10% of the total number of Shares in issue as at the Latest
Practicable Date.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under
the Share Option Scheme

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
(including both exercised and outstanding options) to each Eligible
Participant in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall not
exceed 1% of the Shares in issue as at the date of grant. Any
further grant of options in excess of this 1% limit shall be subject
to: (i) the issue of a circular by the Company containing the identity
of the Eligible Participant, the numbers of and terms of the options
to be granted (and options previously granted to such participant),
the information as required under Rules 23.02(2)(d) and the
disclaimer required under 23.02(4) of the GEM Listing Rules; and (ii)
the approval of the Shareholders in general meeting and/or other
requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules from time to time
with such Eligible Participant and his close associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules) (or his/her associates if the Eligible Participant is a
core connected person) abstaining from voting.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

The period within which an option must be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and
performance target

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be determined
and notified by the Directors to each grantee, but shall not be more
than 10 years from the date upon which the option is deemed to
be granted and accepted. A grantee may be required to achieve
any performance targets as the Board may then specify in the grant
before any options granted under the Share Option Scheme can be
exercised.

The minimum period for which an option must be
held before it can be exercised

There is no minimum period for which an option granted must be
held before it can be exercised except otherwise imposed by the
Directors.

The basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price of a Share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be such price as the
Board in its absolute discretion shall determine, save that such price
must be at least the higher of: (i) the official closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on
the date of grant, which must be a day on which the Stock
Exchange is open for the business of dealing in securities; (ii) the
average of the official closing prices of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value
of a Share.
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8. The amount payable on application or acceptance
of the option and the period within which
payments or calls must or may be made or loans
for such purposes must be repaid

The grantee shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way of
consideration for the grant on or before the relevant acceptance
date of the option.

9. The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme, unless otherwise terminated or
amended, will remain in force for a period of 10 years from the
Adoption Date, i.e. 19 May 2017.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme, no share options were
granted, exercised or cancelled by the Company under the Share Option
Scheme. There were no outstanding share options under the Share
Option Scheme as at the date of this annual report.

Equity-Linked Agreements

Save for the Share Option Scheme as set out in the sub-section headed
“Share Option Scheme” above, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into by the Group, or existed during the year ended 31 May
2022.

Interests of the Compliance Adviser

In accordance with Rule 6A.19 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company
had appointed Shenwan Hongyuan Capital (H.K.) Limited (“SWHY") to
be the compliance adviser since the listing of the Company. The
appointment was terminated on 31 August 2020 after the publication of
the Company’s annual report for the year ended 31 May 2020. As
informed by SWHY, neither SWHY nor any of its directors or employees
or close associates had any interest in the share capital of the Company
or any member of the Group (including options or rights to subscribe for
such securities, if any) or otherwise in relation to the Company up to the
date of the termination of the role as compliance adviser on 31 August
2020 which is required to be notified to the Company pursuant to Rule
6A.32 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and
Regulations

As far as the Directors are aware, the Group has complied in material
respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the business and operation of the Group. During the year
ended 31 May 2022, there was no material breach of or non-compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

Major Customers and Suppliers

For the year ended 31 May 2022, the aggregate amount of turnover
attributed to the Group's largest and the five largest customers accounted
for approximately 26.2% and 54.6% (2021: approximately 24.0% and
54.3%) of the total revenue of the Group, respectively. For the year
ended 31 May 2022, the Group's purchase from the largest and the five
largest suppliers of equipment accounted for approximately 87.3% and
99.3% (2021: approximately 50.5% and 97.5%) of the total purchases
of the Group, respectively. At no time during the year ended 31 May
2022 did the Directors, their associates or any shareholder of the
Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5%
of the Company’s issued share capital) have any interest in the Group’s
major customers or suppliers as disclosed above.

Connected Transactions and Continuing
Connected Transactions

During the year ended 31 May 2022, the Group did not enter into any
transactions which need to be disclosed as connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions pursuant to Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Details of the material related party transactions are set out in note 20 to
the audited consolidated financial statements of this annual report. These
related party transactions did not constitute connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions pursuant to Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Remuneration to key management personnel of the Group, including
Directors described in note 13(a) to the Group’s audited consolidated
financial statements are continuing connected transactions exempt from
the connected transaction requirements under Rule 20.93 of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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Corporate Governance

The Company is firmly committed to maintaining and ensuring a high
level of corporate governance standards and will review and improve the
corporate governance practices and standards constantly. Code provision
A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. On 11 May 2022, the Board appointed Mr. Ma Lie as the
chairman of the Board of the Company and Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis as
the chief executive officer of the Company. The Company’s deviation
from code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code was fixed during the year.

Details of the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 19 to 38 of this
annual report.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this annual
report, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float as required
under the GEM Listing Rules.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provision for pre-emptive or similar rights under the laws of

Caymans Islands or the Articles which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing shareholders.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

Permitted Indemnity Provision

Subject to the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), every Director is entitled under the Company’s Articles of
Association to be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of
the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses may incur or sustain by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty or
supposed duty in their respective offices or trusts, except such (if any) as
he or she shall incur or sustain through their own fraud or dishonesty.

The Company has maintained a directors and officers liability insurance
during the year ended 31 May 2022. To the extent as permitted by the
Companies Ordinance, a directors’ liability insurance is currently in place
to protect the Directors against potential costs and liabilities arising from
claims brought against the Directors.

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 May 2022, the Group had 45 employees (2021: 75 employees).
The remuneration package of the Group offered to the Group's
employees includes salary, bonuses and other cash subsidies. In general,
the Group determines employees’ salaries based on each employee’s
qualifications, position and seniority. The Group has designed an annual
review system to assess the performance of the Group’s employees,
which forms the basis of the Group’s decisions with respect to salary
raises, bonuses and promotions.

Relationship with Stakeholders

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its key stakeholders, including its employees, customers
and suppliers, to meet its immediate and long-term business goals.
During the year ended 31 May 2022, there were no material and
significant disputes between the Group and its employees, customers and
suppliers.
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The Group recognises employees as one of its valuable assets and strictly
complies with the labour laws and regulations and reviews regularly the
existing staff benefits for improvement. Apart from the reasonable
remuneration packages, the Group also offers other employee benefits,
such as medical insurance. The Group provides good quality services to its
customers and keeps a database for direct communications with recurring
customers for developing a long-term trusted relationship. The Group
also maintains effective communication and develops a long-term
business relationship with the suppliers.

Business Review

A fair review of the business of the Company as well as a discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the year ended 31 May 2022
and the material factors underlying its results and financial position can
be found in the management discussion and analysis set out on pages 6
to 18 of this annual report. These discussions form part of this report.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The environmental, social and governance report, which forms part of
this report, is set out on pages 39 to 57 of this annual report.

Annual General Meeting

The forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM") of the Company
will be held on 8 November 2022, the notice of which shall be sent to the

shareholders of the Company in accordance with the Articles, the GEM
Listing Rules and other applicable laws and regulations.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

Closure of Register of Members

In order to ascertain entitlements to attend and vote at the forthcoming
AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, 3 November 2022 to Tuesday, 8 November 2022, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of Shares will be registered.

Shareholders are reminded to ensure that all completed share transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 2 November 2022.

Events After the Reporting Period

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Directors are not aware of any
significant event requiring disclosure that has taken place subsequent to
31 May 2022 and up to the date of approval of this report.

The impact of COVID-19

In addition to the disclosures in these consolidated financial statements,
the following events occur after 31 May 2022:

With the rollout of the vaccination and due to the good results of the
measures implemented by the respective governments in China, Hong
Kong and Macau, the number of COVID-19 cases in 2022 is significantly
reduced compared to 2021. There are indications that the COVID-19 is
under control in the regions where Group mainly operate and the
economy there is gradually recovering, allowing pop concerts and live
events to be held.

However, there is uncertainty as cases of COVID-19 virus variants such as
Omicron, which is highly contagious, have been increasing. If the
governments in the regions where the Group operates tighten their
outbreak control measures again, the Group’s business will be seriously
affected.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited

% #&ﬂ: (/'E)

EEMEROBFETFR

AREETZELEEEREBRFRE LR
CLHRENERE XA HER_ZT -
+—A=ZR(EHME-_ZT_—_F+—A8
NB(EBZ)(2REaRmBE)EEHER
DBPELFE HEB TS HETMHEK
BBEER -

BREBERRABEZNRMDBERIKE
REERE RBEAR_ZT__F+—A8
“HEHD) TFEB=+2RX@EAR
ANEBRNBPELIREEBLSER
BERAR(BIATEEREICEERS R
R0 1748) o

BREBREE

BRAFHRABEEN BEEAH R_F
—_FRAARAZ=THEREEARESEL
AR BELEERATRENEREN -

COVID-19 Rt

E/ﬁ

Br AR4R A BT IS R R BB A 1B R O
RS 2022558318 27% -

AT %

BELSEBEBTENRB EAR R EH -
EAMBMESBFERNEEIRSG R I
R - 20225 KJCOVID-19 B 2+ % 17l 8 8 &
201 E B R@EL - B REAAEE AT
ENEEZLKLEME  COVID- 198 E 52
P REEEREER  AFRRRTE
Lo FNIRIG R -

B2 + A R OmicronZE COVID-19%& & £ §& 5|

RBHRLERN—EEEN HAERER

2B GFEENEEE BEAREBELEA

Eﬂlﬁ%ﬂzﬁﬁ?ﬂ&%&“\%% 2Rl A
TEAREHEEE -

—E-——F&E®xR 75



76

Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

E=gHE (@)

The directors of the Group have kept abreast of the latest development
and are in continuous discussion with our customers on the plans to
resume pop concerts and live events. In addition, the Group has increased
its new banking facilities in December 2021 and April 2022 to ease the
pressure on the Company’s liquidity and has taken plans and
implemented measures to improve the Group’s cash flow by accelerating
the collection of accounts receivable and reducing operating costs.

Shareholder Loans

The controlling shareholder of the Group has entered into a loan
agreement with the Group on 22 July 2022 to provide an interest-free,
unsecured loan of HK$40,000,000 to the Group.

Auditor

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 May 2022
have been audited by Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited .

As the Company and PwC could not reach an agreement on the audit fee
for the financial year ended 31 May 2022, PwC has resigned as auditor of
the Company. The Board, on the recommendation of the Audit
Committee, has appointed Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited as the new
auditor with effect from 17 June 2022.

By order of the Board
In Technical Productions Holdings Limited
Ma Lie
Chairman

23 August 2022
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EENRE

Executive Directors

Mr. Ma Lie, aged 42, was appointed as an executive Director and the
chairman of the Board of the Company on 11 May 2022. Mr. Ma is
primarily responsible for the formulation of the Group’s development
strategies and the diversification of its business. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Ma worked in Shenzhen Shengshi Great Wall Advertising Co.,
Ltd. (RYImERERIKESEBRAF) (“Shenzhen Shengshi”) between
2006 and 2019 with the last position as the general manager. Shenzhen
Shengshi is principally engaged in the provision of branding, advertising
and marketing services and has accumulated extensive entertainment
media resources. Mr. Ma is also the supervisor of Shenzhen Qianhai
Zhongyu International Asset Management Co., Ltd. (&I BT & R F Bl
BEBIEAMR AT which is principally engaged in investment and asset
management and has acquired investment-related expertise which has
brought positive impact on the diversification of the Group’s business.

Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis (#7%%), aged 49, was appointed as the
chief executive officer of the Company. Mr. Yeung was appointed as a
Director on 4 November 2016 and re-designated as an executive Director,
chief executive officer and chairman of the Board on 10 November 2016.
Mr. Yeung is also the founder, chief executive officer of the Group and a
director of each of ITP (BVI), ITP (HK), Intechpro Macau Limited, and the
executive director, general manager and legal representative of each of
Shiji Tiansheng Cultural Communication (Shenzhen) Limited (42 K 5% 3
{LEECRII)BER A R]) and Shanghai Yingtegao Stage Arts Limited (/&
B SESEM AR 2AE]). Mr. Yeung founded the Group in April 2009
and is primarily responsible for devising strategies to develop the Group
and overseeing the business and financial performance of the Group.
Throughout the years of serving the Group, Mr. Yeung led the Group to
adopt a number of latest LED and projection technologies for creative
applications for pop concerts, such as Mesh LED and transparent LED
panels. Mr. Yeung has nearly 12 years of experience in video equipment
rental and services. Prior to founding the Group, Mr. Yeung worked as a
senior manager of I-MAG International Limited, a company which is
principally engaged in video equipment rental business where he was
responsible for customer accounts handling from April 2007 to May
2009. During the course of his promotion of video equipment rental
service for I-MAG International Limited to its customers, Mr. Yeung
acquired the relevant knowledge of the video equipment and visual
display industry. From July 1999 to March 2007, Mr. Yeung worked in
various companies and was responsible for sales of products and
customer services.

Mr. Yeung obtained a Bachelor of Civil Engineering degree from Monash
University, Clayton Campus in Australia in May 1998.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited

SBEEBAEZEF

HITES

BAEE 2 N-E-_—_€FA+—8
BEZAARARANTES EFSER -
EAEFZEEHEAESENERIER
EBZTENAE - MALXREER - FELE
RZZEERNEE_ZT—NEEEHAFIT
Bt RMESARAR (DEYIXM])  &i&
BusREE - RYBXEFERERHER
e BERMZEHRYE BRTEFHR
LEEER - FEENARINTRAESF
BREEEEARARNNES ZAaa=E
EREREREEETE ESKRENHEA
BEg N BAKBERZTILEBE R
BB 2 o

BOEERE 4958 BEARRQAITHRAAE -
BRER_ZTE—A"F+—ANBEZREIAE
BEEIR_ZT—"F+—A+BHATER
TEE THEIRESSXIRE -HBELAE
MAEREB A # A RITHRAR - TP BVI)
MPHK R EFESBF—AERAGIMNES
FHLARBEXEEECRIDBRAA R E
BRESZAEMARAANAITES
BEBRAFTREA-BEER-ZZTZT A
FMAARAEET ETE AR ELAEH
MEERBUREEBASENERE KT
R BELAEBMZEUR GEEESE
AN £ (8] R 49 % T8 &% 5 A9 LED 2 4% 5t 4% il A &l
EAAEARRITEL e MAKLDRE

WA EERTI12F &5 - gl AN & B 7
BEEECR _ZETLFNAE_TTNF
# A EI1-MAG International Limited &) & #% 4%
B ZARTENRERESEBEHERED  ®
EZ AR BERERFERL - RNEAI-MAG
International Limited [7] % = # & 15 58 3% 5 1
ERBHE BELEESEHEIBERER
BERTENEBIZ - R — AN FELR
EETLF=A BEEABREZRA
Al -BEEMHEREFPRK -

BRARER—NMNNFARAERBEBANER
HKERBESRMTRBLARTRREBL M-

—E2-—Fg® 77



78

Biographies of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

BEENIEEEBAEBZHEE(E)

Mr. Tam Chun Yu (FEfEF), aged 45, was appointed as an executive
Director on 10 November 2016. Mr. Tam joined the Group as an
operation manager in June 2009 and is primarily responsible for planning,
organising, coordinating and implementing visual display solutions of the
Group. Mr. Tam has over 16 years of experience in video equipment
rental and visual display solutions. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Tam
worked as a technician of I-MAG International Limited from April 2007 to
June 2009 and Cosmo Pro AV Co. from February 2002 to February 2006.
Mr. Tam attended his secondary school education in Hong Kong from
September 1990 to August 1993.

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Ji Gui Bao, aged 58, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director and the chairman of the Audit Committee and a
member of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of
the Company on 11 May 2022. Mr. Ji has been registered as a Certified
Public Accountant of the PRC since 1995 and has extensive experience in
the accounting field. He has been working for Shenzhen Wanda
Accounting Firm ORYIEZGETAIEEAT) since January 2005 and is
currently a partner of the firm.

Mr. Cui Hai Bin, aged 39, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director and the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and
a member of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of the
Company on 11 May 2022. Mr. Cui graduated from China University of
Geosciences (FEIH#1E K2 in 2007 with a major in laws. Mr. Cui is a
lawyer in the PRC and currently a partner of Guangdong Promise-U
(Qianhai) Law Firm (BER % ZKE@EDE)EENERA). Mr. Cui was
admitted as a lawyer in the PRC in 2009. His practice covers complex
corporate reorganisations and equity capital markets transactions.

Mr. Chen Yue, aged 53, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director and a member of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company on 11 May
2022. Mr. Chen obtained a Master of Business Administration from Sun
Yat-sen University in 2012. Mr. Chen has extensive experience in business
development and management. He was the chief executive officer of
Shenzhen Laihatching Internet Company Limited (RYIZRIEEF BB A
fR27R]), which is principally engaged in internet investment. Mr. Chen
was the general manager of the marketing and promotion department
and the public relations department of China Resources C'estbon
Beverage (China) Co., Ltd., a company based in the PRC focusing on the
beverage business from 2006 to December 2021.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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Ms. Jiang Yu E, aged 50, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company
on 11 May 2022. Ms. liang is the chairman of Shandong Ansuyue
Technology Company Limited* (LR ZRiE B AR A F)). She has been
the chairman of Shenzhen Hawfeng Ballerina Decoration Co., Ltd. (Z3I
MEYEH LR TAR A7) since 2013. She has extensive experience in
sales and corporate management.

Senior Management

Ms. Ng Tsz Ning Loretta (:2£2#%), aged 50, is an accountant of the
Group. Ms. Ng joined the Group in June 2015 and is primarily responsible
for overseeing the day-to-day operation of financial activities of the
Group. Ms. Ng has over 24 years of experience in accounting and finance.
Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Ng was an accounting supervisor of ASB
Biodiesel (HK) Limited from March 2014 to June 2015, an accountant of
Team Success (Pacific) Limited from February 2012 to November 2013, an
accounting manager of Jiawei Solarchina Company Limited from April
2011 to September 2011, an assistant accounting manager of Saraya
Hong Kong Co. Ltd. from March 2010 to February 2011, an accounting
manager of New Ocean Technology Limited from March 2003 to
December 2009 and an accounting and administration manager of VK
Holdings (HK) Limited from February 2000 to February 2003.

Ms. Ng obtained a bachelor degree in accountancy from University of
South Australia by distance learning in April 2003.

Mr. Lau Kai Chu Kevin (21{£4F), aged 49, is the internal audit manager
of the Group. Mr. Lau joined the Group in October 2016 and is primarily
responsible for company policy setting, performing internal audit, and
monitoring internal control of operation. Mr. Lau has over 21 years of
experience in accounting and internal audit. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Lau was a director of JR Corporate Services Limited from July 2013 to
September 2016. He also worked in CCT Telecom (HK) Limited from April
2012 to December 2012, last served as an internal audit manager. He
was also a regional manager, control and compliance of J.V. Fitness
Limited from October 2008 to October 2010 and an internal auditor of
Michel of HK from December 2006 to October 2008.
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Mr. Lau was admitted as a certified internal auditor of the Institute of
Internal Auditors in May 2006. Mr. Lau obtained his bachelor’s degree of
commerce from University of Manitoba in Canada in May 1996.

Mr. Xu Minghuan (#RBA™), aged 38, is the project supervisor of Shiji
Tiansheng Cultural Communication (Shenzhen) Limited (tt42 K 2% S (L{&
EORINEBRAR]). Mr. Xu joined the Group in February 2009 and is
primarily responsible for organising, coordinating and implementing visual
display solutions in PRC. Mr. Xu has over 10 years of experience in visual
display solutions and operating of visual equipment. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Xu served as a technical engineer at I-MAG International
Limited, a company which was principally engaged in the business of
video equipment rental, from May 2007 to June 2009, where he was
primarily responsible for coordinating and implementing visual display
solutions. From February 2004 to May 2007, Mr. Xu served as the
technical director at Black Leopard Performance Equipment Limited (2%
RE L HEAR /AR, a company which was principally engaged in the
business of production of lighting and LED and rental of equipment,
where he was primarily responsible for repair and installation of
equipment.

Mr. Xu received his vocational secondary education regarding electrical
and mechanical integration in Guangdong Mechanical & Electrical
Polytechnic (BR & #EZ4) in July 2003.

Mr. Pei Mingzhong (3588:8), aged 39, is the deputy general manager
of Shenzhen Shiji Tiansheng Technology Limited (YT tt 40 KBRS A
fRAR]). Mr. Pei joined the Group in June 2013 and is primarily
responsible for equipment development and maintenance. Mr. Pei has
over eight years of experience in visual equipment development. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Pei was a technical director of research and
development department of Shenzhen Zhongxiang Innovation
Optoelectronics Limited (IR EARBR AR from December
2012 to June 2013 and a manager of research and development
department of Shenzhen Broad Horizon Optoelectronics Limited (Z&IIIA
RARNXERBAR A F]) from August 2008 to December 2012.

Mr. Pei received his tertiary education in mechatronics from Jiangxi

Yuzhou Electronic Industrial College (TFE#IMNEFTEERT) in July
2003.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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Company Secretary

Ms. Leung Yin Fai (R#), aged 57, was appointed as the Group's
company secretary on 10 November 2016. Ms. Leung has been a director
of K E Corporate Services Limited (a company secretarial services provider)
since April 2016, the managing director of K E Management &
Consultancy (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. since August 2015 and an independent
non-executive director of Lotus Horizon Holdings Limited (Hong Kong
Stock Code: 6063) since March 2020. Ms. Leung was a director of KCS
Hong Kong Limited from August 2008 to October 2014 and an
independent non-executive director of Green leader Holdings Group
Limited (Hong Kong Stock Code: 0061) from April 2014 to January 2020.

Ms. Leung was admitted as a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants (currently known as Chartered Association of
Certified Accountants) in the United Kingdom in July 1995. Ms. Leung
was also admitted as a fellow member of the CPA Australia in May 2004
and is currently a member of HKICPA. Ms. Leung obtained a master’s
degree in commerce from the University of New South Wales, Australia in
November 2002.

Some English names of Chinese laws and regulations, government
authorities, departments, entities, institutions, natural persons, facilities,
certificates, titles and the like for which no official English translation
exists have been unofficially translated for identification purposes only. In
the event of any inconsistency, the Chinese name will prevail.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
3 % B A R

g

ZHONGHUI

To the Shareholders of In Technical Productions Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of In Technical
Productions Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 88 to 159,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
May 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 May
2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (”HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor ‘s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements
which mentions that the Group incurred a loss of HK$24,409,288 for the
year ended 31 May 2022 and as at 31 May 2022 the Group had net
current liabilities of HK$26,442,136. These conditions indicate a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of
this matter.

Emphasis of Matter

Material uncertainty relating to an event occurring
after the reporting period of an accident happened in
a concert on 28 July 2022

We draw attention to note 37 to the consolidated financial statements
which describes the uncertainty exists in the impact of an event occurring
after the reporting period of an accident happened in a concert on 28
July 2022 (the "Accident”). Our opinion is not modified in respect of this
matter.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. In addition to the matters described in the
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern and the Emphasis of
Matter section, we have determined the matters described below to be
the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

Estimated useful lives of visual display equipment

Refer to Note 4 and Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 May 2022, the Group held visual display equipment of
approximately HK$68.0 million. For the year ended 31 May 2022,
depreciation of approximately HK$19.0 million for the visual display
equipment was recognised under “cost of services” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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Depreciation of visual display equipment is calculated using a straight-line
method to allocate the cost over their estimated useful lives of 8 years,
except for the equipment which are custom made for a particular project
or event and their cost is depreciated over the duration of the project or
event.

Management estimates useful lives of the visual display equipment with
reference to the durability, expected repairs and maintenance and future
demand of the equipment.

Management also takes into account the industry practice and
expectation on technical or commercial obsolescence arising from
changes or improvements in the market relevant to their business.

We focused on this area because the carrying amount of visual display
equipment is significant to the consolidated financial statements and the
determination of estimated useful lives of visual display equipment, which
has a direct impact on the calculation of depreciation, requires the use of
significant judgements and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

— Understanding and evaluating the management’s internal control
and assessment process of estimation useful lives of visual display
equipment and assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and level of
other inherent risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity, changes
and susceptibility to management bias or fraud;

—  Assessing the reasonableness of the useful lives adopted by the
Group by reviewing the historical usage of the equipment,
discussing with management and making reference to, where
available, independent research report on durability, expected
repairs and maintenance and future demand of visual display
equipment;

— Testing on a sample basis, whether additions to visual display

equipment have been recorded in proper categories for the
calculation of depreciation; and
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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—  Observing the Group’s physical count procedures on visual display
equipment and the physical condition of the relevant assets to
identify whether there is any damaged or obsolete visual display
equipment.

We consider that the Group’s estimated useful lives of the visual display
equipment are supported by the available evidence.

Impairment test on property, plant and equipment

Refer to Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group tested the amount of property, plant and equipment for

impairment. This impairment test is significant to our audit because the

balance of property, plant and equipment of HK$68.2 million as at 31

May 2022 is material to the consolidated financial statements. In addition,

the Group’s impairment test involves application of judgement and is

based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

—  Assessing the identification of the related cash generating units;

— Assessing the arithmetical accuracy of the value-in-use calculations;

—  Comparing the actual cash flows with the cash flow projections;

— Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions (including
revenue growth, profit margins, terminal growth rates and discount
rates);

—  Checking input data to supporting evidence.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for property, plant and
equipment is supported by the available evidence.
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Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the Company’s
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's website at:

http://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/standards-and-regulations/standards/
auditing-assurance/auditre/

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yeung Hong Chun

Audit Engagement Director
Practising Certificate Number P07374

Hong Kong, 23 August 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and

88

Other Comprehensive Income

GEeEERAMEERER

For the year ended 31 May 2022 BE-T-_—FHAA=+—HIFE

2022 2021
—E-= ===
Notes HK$ HK$
Bt 5 BT T
Revenue U 25 7 20,347,460 12,349,103
Cost of services AR 75 A A (31,835,111)  (34,849,638)
Gross loss Fi8 (11,487,651) (22,500,535)
Interest revenue F B #5 496 2,022
Other income HAb W A 8 2,957,579 1, 73580
Other (losses)/gains, net Hip (B8), WS F8E 9 (247,076) 494,130
Administrative expenses THRX (14,392,010) (13,579,587)
Net impairment losses on trade receivables B S REWFRREEEFE (1,164,018) (5,628,879)
Loss from operation ReEBE (24,332,680) (39,477,534)
Finance costs B 75 B AR 10 (644,225) (540,771)
Loss before tax P8 Bt Al B 18 (24,976,905) (40,018,305)
Income tax credit PGB % 1 567,617 4,939,903
Loss for the year FEEIE 12 (24,409,288) (35,078,402)
Other comprehensive income after tax: e EEME2EKE
Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss: ~ HER[fEE#H H HEZE =AY
HE :
Exchange differences on translating BEBINRBEHER =8
foreign operations 16,143 110,280
Other comprehensive income for the year, & H {ih 2 H Uk 2%
net of tax (MBHIE) 16,143 110,280
Total comprehensive loss for the year FEXHEEARE (24,393,145) (34,968,122)
Loss for the year attributable to: RTATEAEFEERSSE:
— Owners of the Company — AR BIHEA A (24,243,425) (35,011,096)
— Non-controlling interests — IR ER (165,863) (67,306)
(24,409,288) (35,078,402)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income (Continued)
meEEmkEMETEREE(E)

For the year ended 31 May 2022 BIZ-Z__FAA=1T—HIFE

2022 2021
—E-—-& T —dE
Notes HKS$ HK$
Bt 5 B BT
Total comprehensive loss for the year DTATEGCEFEZEERE
attributable to: W
— Owners of the Company lNNCIE SN (24,227,464) (34,905,044)
— Non-controlling interests — IR ER 16 (165,681) (63,078)
(24,393,145) (34,968,122)
Loss per share BRER 15
Basic and diluted (HK cents) AN R E (B L) (3.03) (4.38)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI &

Asat31May2022 R-ZE-_—FRAA=1+—H

2022 2021
—E-= ===
Notes HK$ HK$
Mo 5E BT BT
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME BENEE 17 68,229,458 74,562,201
Right-of-use assets FREEE 18 4,499,988 5,095,179
Prepayments and deposits EANRIERRE 19 2,294,846 6,613,378
Deferred tax asset RIEHRIBEEE 26 140,016 —
75,164,308 86,270,758
Current assets REBEE
Trade receivables B S EW A 19 4,176,190 4,706,312
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables  FEFUIE ~ & K& H M fE U
B 19 7,286,243 8,903,044
Amount due from the immediate holding FE W B B R IR A B 5RI8
company 20 — 50,000
Cash and cash equivalents HeERREEEY 21 830,303 1,166,683
12,292,736 14,826,039
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables and accrued liabilities Hitpe B R ESARE 22 19,293,959 13,792,475
Amount due to a related party FE 1F B B 75 3RIB 24 4,331,226 =
Bank borrowings and overdraft RITERNEX 25 11,513,753 9,508,427
Lease liabilities MEAE 27 2,967,170 2,343,377
Taxation payable FES B IR 628,764 1,268,864
38,734,872 26,913,143
Net current liabilities REBEEFE (26,442,136) (12,087,104)
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBERE 48,722,172 74,183,654
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

e BRI R ()

Asat 31 May 2022 W=-TE-_—_FHRA=+—H

2022 2021
—s=-= =T = =4E
Notes HK$ HK$
Mo 5E & T BT
Non-current liabilities kRBAE
Deferred tax liabilities REFR A E 26 — 427,601
Lease liabilities HEAE 27 1,838,803 3,063,539
Contract liabilities AEHABEaE 23 944,000 360,000
2,782,803 3,851,140
Net assets EEFE 45,939,369 70,332,514
Capital and reserves IR A % 1 1
Share capital P& 7K 28 8,000,000 8,000,000
Reserves i 29 38,462,120 62,689,584
Equity attributable to owners of the Company  ZARQ &l #E A A JE 15 # 46,462,120 70,689,584
Non-controlling interests JEFE AR R 25 16 (522,751) (357,070)
Total equity EREsE 45,939,369 70,332,514

The consolidated financial statements on pages 88 to 159 were approved S588Z 1598 Z 428 I BIEN T = =
and authorised for issue by Board of Directors on 23 August 2022 and NAA - +=BEEE=E S8t /& R EE T3
are signed on behalf of by:

Ma Lie Yeung Ho Ting Dennis
52 B E
Director Director
EF BEF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
RERDBHR

For the year ended 31 May 2022 BE—T-__FHA=T—HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

92

LSS PN A
Retained
earnings/ Non-
Share Share Capital  Exchange Statutory (accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium  reserve reserve  reserve losses) Total interests equity
REBA/
REx ROEE BxRE ELREE AERE (RHER) mit FEREE ERAR
HK$ HKS$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS
BT BT BT BT BT BT BT BT BT
At 1 June 2020 RZT=-TF
~NA—H 8,000,000 56,496,624 773,744 198,814 332,296 39,793,150 105,594,628 (293,992) 105,300,636
Total comprehensive income/ & 2 WA,/ (B 1)
(loss) for the year ok — — — 106,052 —  (35,011,096) (34,905,044) (63,078) (34,968,122)
At 31 May 2021 R-B_—%
TIA=+—H 8,000,000 56,496,624 773,744 304,866 332,29 4,782,054 70,689,584 (357,070) 70,332,514
At 1 June 2021 R-ZE-—%F
~A—H 8,000,000 56,496,624 773,744 304,866 332,296 4,782,054 70,689,584 (357,070) 70,332,514
Total comprehensive income/ £ E 2 WA,/ (F51)
(loss) for the year ok — - — 15,961 —  (24,243,425) (24,227,464)  (165,681) (24,393,145)
At 31 May 2022 R-B-—#
EA=1+-H 8,000,000 56,496,624 773,744 320,827 332,296  (19,461,371) 46,462,120 (522,751) 45,939,369
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

351' IE%/)ILE’%%

For the year ended 31 May 2022 BEZZ-_—_FRAA=+—HIFE

2022 2021
—E-= = = =4
HK$ HK$
BT & TT
Cash flows from operating activities RETHFMEBEERE
Loss before tax B30 A &R (24,976,905) (40,018,305)
Adjustment for: # IR EEL
Interest revenue A B U 25 (496) (2,022)
Finance costs B 7% Ak 2N 644,225 540,771
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME BENRREITE 19,271,456 19,540,771
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FEREEETE 2,975,839 3,391,017
Provision for impairment of trade receivables B 5 e W R IE R (B B 1,164,018 5,628,879
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE  BE MREH W=
equipment — (157,318)
Operating loss before working capital changes BEECEBAIKLEEIR (921,863) (11,076,207)
Change in trade receivables B SREKFIEZE) (633,895) 2,315,370
Change in prepayments, deposits and A FRIE - R R H MR W KIE
other receivables o) 1,591,472 (1,871,069)
Change in contract liabilities AHBEES 584,000 360,000
Change in other payables and accrued liabilities — E At B B K fE5H B B F) 5,501,484 3,194,248
Cash generated from/(used in) operations rReEmR/ (A BRE 6,121,198 (7,077,658)
Hong Kong profits tax paid BENEBFEH (640,100) (896,001)
Net cash generated from/(used in) operating & EEBREB (FFA)REEHE
activities 5,481,098 (7,973,659)
Cash flows from investing activities REZDHFRERERE
Interest received 28 496 2,022
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEY % = K 5% & B T S
equipment IE — 530,001
Payment for acquisition of property, plant and WEME BELRREMNR
equipment (8,675,175) (929,164)
Payment from/(advance to) the immediate REEEZERA ,Ty\ K1\,
holding company (MEEERAFER) 50,000 (50,000)
Net cash used in investing activities RETHFAREFHE (8,624,679) (447,141)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
meEReRER (B
For the year ended 31 May 2022 BE—ZT-_—_FRA=+—HIFE

2022 2021
—E-= ===
HK$ HK$
BT I
Cash flows from financing activities Al & SE ib FERERE
Proceed of bank borrowings and overdraft RITERME B HE 7,330,217 9,508,427
Repayment of bank borrowings 1E5afﬂfﬂ /T>)\ (5,324,891) (3,592,488)
Change in amount due to a related party &~ BA B 7 FIEE ) 4,331,226 —
Payments of principal element of lease liabilities gyl ﬁﬁ{f$%*ﬁ% (2,973,684) (3,235,921)
Payments of interest element of lease liabilities EEfEE ﬁ B EE D (278,517) (286,212)
Bank loan interest paid EFIRITERFE (365,708) (254,559)
Decrease in pledged bank deposits 2R TTTS_LTA/JEK}‘ — 3,000,001
Net cash generated from financing activities B EEEBREHR L FHE 2,718,643 5,139,248
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents BEeERBESEEY ﬁ DR (424,938) (3,281,552)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes YN E PE R B &) =2 88,558 (99,396)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of FHNERERERES %{“ L)
the year 1,166,683 4,547,631
Cash and cash equivalents atend of theyear FREBERBLEEY 830,303 1,166,683
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents RERBEEEW2IM
Bank and cash balances RITRR 4 830,303 1,166,683
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

General information

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 4 November 2016 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law (as
revised) of the Cayman Islands, as amended, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time. The address of its registered
office is Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1008 Cayman Islands. The principal place of business
of the Company is located at Unit D2, 5/F, Hoi Bun Industrial
Building, 6 Wing Yip Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are principally engaged
in the provision of visual display solution services for concerts and
events primarily in Hong Kong, Macau, the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC") and Taiwan (the “Business”). The Company’s
shares were listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing”) on 14 June 2017.

Going concern basis

The Group incurred a net loss of HK$24,409,288 and had net
current liabilities of HK$26,442,136 and maintained cash and cash
equivalents of HK$830,303 for the year ended 31 May 2022.

During the year, the Group’s business operations have been
adversely affected by the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease
("COVID-19”) in Hong Kong. The outbreak of COVID-19 has
resulted in significant decrease in commercial activities under the
lockdown and a series of precautionary and control measures
imposed in various cities where the Group operates, such as ban on
social gathering of more than a limited headcount, execution of
pandemic prevention requirements and restrictions and controls
over inbound and outbound travelling. These have led to
postponement and cancellation of pop concerts and live events
during the year.

The above conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties
which may cast a significant doubt about the ability of the Group to
continue as a going concern.
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Notes to the Conso
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2. Going concern basis (Continued)

In view of these circumstances, the directors of the Company have
given careful consideration to the Group’s financial position and
performance, the liquidity requirements and its available sources of
financing to assess whether the Group will have sufficient resources
to fulfill its financial obligations. The Group has taken plans and
implemented measures to alleviate the liquidity pressure which
include, but not limited to, the following:

(i)

(iii)

With the substantial decrease in the number of COVID-19
infected cases in Hong Kong since April 2022 due to the good
results of the control measures imposed, there were signs
that the COVID-19 situation has been easing in Hong Kong.
The economic activities resumed gradually and pop concerts
and live events are permitted to be held since May 2022. The
directors of the Company have been closely monitoring the
development of the latest situation and have continuous
discussion with the customers about their plans to resume the
pop concerts and live events. The directors of the Company
anticipate that the Group’s business will resume gradually
provide that COVID-19 situation is under control and
distancing measure is easing.

As at 31 May 2022, the Group had outstanding gross trade
receivables of HK$13,790,437, among which HK$5,733,145
aged over 365 days. The Group has implemented measures to
accelerate the collection by issuing reminders and letters of
demand to its debtors, negotiating with the debtors on their
respective repayment schedules and, where possible, entering
into repayment agreements with them. The Group
successfully collected settlement of trade receivables of
HK$3,400,000 subsequent to 31 May 2022.

In 2022, the Group obtained a new banking facility of
HK$3,000,000 from a commercial bank in Hong Kong which
was secured by corporate guarantee of the Company, the
pledge of a property and the personal guarantee of a director
of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Going concern basis (Continued)

(iv)  When necessary, the Group will continue to adopt a series of
measures to control the cash outflow by encouraging
employees to take no-pay leave, negotiating with suppliers
and creditors to extend the payment due dates, controlling
capital expenditures, obtaining rent concessions from the
landlords and tightening expenditures.

(v)  The controlling shareholder has agreed to provide adequate
funds for the Group to meet its liabilities as they fall due.

The directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s cash flow
projections which cover a period of not less than twelve months
from 31 May 2022. The directors are of the opinion that, having
taken into account the anticipated operating cash flows of the
Group as well as the possible changes in its operating performance
and the availability of existing and new bank facilities, the Group
will have sufficient financial resources to meet its liabilities as and
when they fall due in the coming twelve months from 31 May
2022. Accordingly, the directors consider that the Group will be
able to continue as a going concern and thus have prepared the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, material uncertainty exists as to
whether the Group is able to achieve its plans and measures as
described above, which incorporate assumptions about future
events and conditions that are subject to inherent uncertainties.
Whether the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
depends upon the Group's ability to generate adequate operating
cash inflows through:

(i) gradual resumption of business with further easing of controls
measures related to COVID-19 and as anticipated by
management to generate sufficient operating cash inflows;

(i) successful collection of overdue trade receivables in the
expected timeframe;

(i) successful in draw down of the banking facilities as and when
needed;
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Going concern basis (Continued)

(iv)  successful implementation of various cost saving measures
and control of capital expenditures when necessary; and

(v)  the validity of which depends upon the financial support of
the controlling shareholder at a level sufficient to finance the
working capital requirements of the Group.

Should the Group be unable to achieve the above plans and
measures such that it would not be operate as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to reduce the carrying values
of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for
financial liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities, respectively. The effect of these adjustments has not been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

Adoption of new and revised Hong Kong
financial reporting standards

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA")
that are relevant to its operations and effective for its accounting
year beginning on 1 June 2021. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS"); and Interpretations. The adoption of these
new and revised HKFRSs did not result in significant changes to the
Group’s accounting policies, presentation of the Group’'s
consolidated financial statements and amounts reported for the
current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new and revised HKFRSs that have
been issued but are not yet effective. The Group has already
commenced an assessment of the impact of these new and revised
HKFRSs but is not yet in a position to state whether these new and
revised HKFRSs would have a material impact on its results of
operations and financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B RERN T (E)

Significant accounting policies

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs, accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange
and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified by the financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss, which are carried at their fair
values.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key assumptions and
estimates. It also requires the directors to exercise their judgements
in the process of applying the accounting policies. The areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to these consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in note 5 to these consolidated
financial statements.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
May. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The
Group has power over an entity when the Group has existing rights
that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e.
activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting
rights as well as potential voting rights held by other parties, to
determine whether it has control. A potential voting right is
considered only if the holder has the practical ability to exercise that
right.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Consolidation (Continued)

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date
the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a loss
of control represents the difference between (i) the fair value of the
consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment
retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s share of the net
assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill relating to that
subsidiary and any related accumulated foreign currency translation
reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not
attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position and consolidated statement of changes in equity within
equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the
year between the non-controlling shareholders and owners of the
Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
("functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$"), which is the
Company’s functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency on initial recognition using the exchange
rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and
liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange
rates at the end of each reporting period. Gains and losses
resulting from this translation policy are recognised in profit
or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates at
the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in
other comprehensive income, any exchange component of
that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income.
When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in
profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Translation on consolidation
The results and financial position of all the Group entities that
have a functional currency different from the Company’s
presentation currency are translated into the Company’s
presentation currency as follows:

(i)  Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that statement of financial position;

(i) Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the exchange
rates on the transaction dates); and

(i) All resulting exchange differences are recognised in the
foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation
of the net investment in foreign entities and of borrowings are
recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve. When a
foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are recognised
in consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a
foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
entity and translated at the closing rate.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit
or loss during the period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at rates
sufficient to write off their cost less their residual values over the
estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal useful
lives are as follows:

Visual display equipment

BEBTR®

Furniture and other equipment 4 years
BIE R H b 45
Motor vehicles 3-5 years
e 3ES5F
Leasehold improvements

HEEE R EA

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

The gain or loss on disposal of plant and equipment is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leases

The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and corresponding
lease liabilities when the leased assets are available for use by the
Group. Right-of-use assets are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use
assets is calculated at rates to write off their cost over the shorter of
the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. The
principal lease terms are as follows:

— Land and buildings 1-3 years
— LTHRETF 1ZE34F
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount of
the initial measurement of the lease liabilities, lease payments
prepaid, initial direct costs and the restoration costs. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the lease payments discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be
determined, or otherwise the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.
Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease term
so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the lease terms. Short-term leases are leases with an
initial lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets are assets
of value below US$5,000.

The Group as lessor

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees all the risks
and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted for as operating
leases. Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire; the Group transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets; or
the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the assets but has not retained control on
the assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified
in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under a contract
whose terms require delivery of the asset within the timeframe
established by the market concerned, and are initially recognised at
fair value, plus directly attributable transaction costs except in the
case of investments at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of investments at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the following
categories:

—  Financial assets at amortised cost

(i)  Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets (including trade and other receivables) are
classified under this category if they satisfy both of the
following conditions:

— the assets are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows; and

— the contractual terms of the assets give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less loss allowance for expected credit
losses.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses
(“ECL") on financial assets at amortised cost. ECL are the weighted
average of credit losses with the respective risks of a default
occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures the loss
allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to the ECL
that result from all possible default events over the expected life of
that financial instrument (“lifetime ECL") for trade receivables, or if
the credit risk on that financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a financial
instrument (other than trade receivables) has not increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss
allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to the
portion of lifetime ECL that represents the ECL that result from
default events on that financial instrument that are possible within
12 months after the reporting period.

The amount of ECL or reversal to adjust the loss allowance at the
end of the reporting period to the required amount is recognised in
profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits
with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term highly
liquid investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of change in
value. Bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are also included as
a component of cash and cash equivalents.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to
the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument under
HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific financial
liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least
12 months after the reporting period.

Other payables

Other payables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer with reference to the customary business
practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
For a contract where the period between the payment by the
customer and the transfer of the promised product or service
exceeds one year, the consideration is adjusted for the effect of a
significant financing component.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring control over a product or service to a
customer. Depending on the terms of a contract and the laws that
apply to that contract, a performance obligation can be satisfied
over time or at a point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied
over time if:

— the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance;

— the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

—  the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of
the product or service.

Other revenue

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

(9]

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave
are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is
made for the estimated liability for annual leave and long
service leave as a result of services rendered by employees up
to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (“MPF Scheme")
in Hong Kong under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance, for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the dates
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring costs
and involves the payment of termination benefits.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in the profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or loss because
it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised.
Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply
in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in
profit or loss, except when it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purpose of allocating resources and assessing
the performance of the Group's various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of
products and services, the nature of productions processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A ISR (B

4. Significant accounting policies (Continued) 4., FERFBE @)
Related parties BAEAL
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group. FAE AT AEANEBEABESEAK
B®-
(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family is related @ MMWBULTALT: BIzZATLTZA

to the Group if that person: TR EARE R R E

(i) has control or joint control over the Group; () PEHskHERESAESR

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or iy HAEBBEEATE %

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the (i) BARABFHARQE AT
Company or of a parent of the Company. MEZEEREKE -

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following (b) MFETHIE T—J & BNE R
conditions applies: REBBMEE

() The entity and the Company are members of the same () ZERBEAQRABR —%
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and BEHkEAF (&R
fellow subsidiary is related to the others). A HEARKBRNEAR

AR UL FE B R E) -

(i)~ One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other iy —HELEAEE —ETENK
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a ERAIREERE(HS—
group of which the other entity is a member). ERAKERAMNEEIE

TR E QA ZHE R R %
BERE) -

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party. (i) MEAEBEBHAER -—F=FH
BHEERE-

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the ivv " HERBAF=FTTEHN
other entity is an associate of the third entity. EELE MB—ERAEZ

FoRERMBERT -

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the vy BEBAAEBENEARE
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity *ﬁ iEZEZHREEB R
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, &R BB AE IR & o A
the sponsoring employers are also related to the Group. EEARFERELTE RHE

éﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁiﬁéﬁi$glﬁ
8 &

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person (viy EBBXFTHEA AL EH

identified in (a). X RS -

112  In Technical Productions Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B RERN T (E)

4. Significant accounting policies (Continued) 4. FEEFTHEm

Related parties (Continued)

(b) (Continued):

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over
the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Company or to a parent of the Company.

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible assets except deferred tax asset, investments
and receivables to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of any impairment loss. Where it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.
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Notes to the Conso
A HRERITE(E)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset or cash-generating
unit in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss
is treated as a revaluation increase.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will
be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability
of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional information
about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting period or
those that indicate the going concern assumption is not appropriate
are adjusting events and are reflected in the consolidated financial
statements. Events after the reporting period that are not adjusting
events are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements when material.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Key estimates

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are discussed below.

(a)

(b)

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Management determines the estimated useful lives, and
related depreciation charge for its property, plant and
equipment. The estimates are based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions, the durability, the
expected repairs and maintenance and the future demand of
equipment. Management will increase the depreciation
charge where useful lives are less than previously estimated
useful lives. It will write off or write-down technically obsolete
or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.
Actual economic lives may differ from estimated useful lives.
Periodic review could result in a change in depreciable lives
and therefore affect the depreciation charge in future periods.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of the assets exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is determined with
reference to the present value of estimated future cash flows.
Where the future cash flows are less than expected or there
are unfavourable events and change in facts and circumstance
which result in revision of future estimate cash flows, a
material impairment loss may arise.

N
w3

B % R B w ()

EFEME
hE T RERRE 2 EERIR

BRARZEERRK

N AR N

AATRERRZEMEERR(AE
BTN —EAVBREFEZEERAR
FHELREXNBEARZERAR)#
TSR o

(a)

(b)
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5. Key estimates (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(o]

(d)

Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts
based on assessments of the recoverability of the trade and
other receivables and contract assets, including the current
creditworthiness and the past collection history of each
debtor. Impairments arise where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the balances may not be
collectible. The identification of bad and doubtful debts
requires the use of judgement and estimates. Where the
actual result is different from the original estimate, such
difference will impact the carrying value of the trade and
other receivables and loan receivables and doubtful debt
expenses in the year in which such estimate has been
changed. If the financial conditions of the debtors were to
deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make
payments, additional allowances may be required.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions.
Significant estimates are required in determining the provision
for income taxes. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

6. Financial risk management

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign
currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The
Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group'’s financial performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and is exposed to
foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to United States dollars (“US$"), Macau
Patacas (“MOP”) and Renminbi (“RMB"). Foreign exchange
risk arises when future commercial transactions, recognised
assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not
the Group entities’ functional currency.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

6. Financial risk management (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

In the opinion of the directors, US$ is reasonably stable with
HK$ under the Linked Exchange Rate System, and accordingly,
the Group considers the foreign exchange risk is low and no
sensitivity analysis is performed relative to US$.

At 31 May 2022 and 2021, if RMB had weakened/
strengthened by 5% against HK$ with all other variables held
constant, loss for the year ended 31 May 2022 would have
been approximately HK$233,356 (2021: HK$245,871) lower/
higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains on
translation of payables denominated in RMB.

Credit risk

The carrying amounts of cash at banks, trade receivables,
deposits and other receivables and amount due from the
immediate holding company included in the consolidated
statement of financial position represent the Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial
assets.

The Group has two types of financial assets that are subject
to the expected credit loss models:

° Trade receivables; and

. Other financial assets carried at amortised cost.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables of the Group represent amounts due from
reputable companies in the entertainment industry. The
Group has a credit policy in place and the exposures to these
credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measure expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected
loss allowance for all trade receivables. To measure the
expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past
due. The Group measures the expected credit losses on a
combination of both individual and collective basis.

4= A

N

B % R B w ()

6. é}ﬂrlﬁigiiﬁﬁ

(a)

(b)
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A W15 R M e (88)

Financial risk management (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Measurement of expected credit loss on collective basis

Expected credit losses also estimated by grouping the
receivables based on similar credit risk characteristics and
collectively assessed for likelihood of recovery, taking into
account the customers’ ageing category and historical
payment profiles, and applying the expected credit loss rates
to the respective gross carrying amounts of the receivables.

The expected credit loss rates were determined based on
historical default rates and were adjusted to the effects of
current market conditions as well as forwardlooking
information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of
the customers to settle the receivables.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented as “net
impairment loss on trade receivables” within operating loss.
When a receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account for receivables. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Other financial assets carried at amortised cost

The Group's other financial assets carried at amortised cost
include cash and cash equivalents, deposits and other
receivables and amount due from an immediate holding
company in the consolidated statement of financial position.
The impairment loss of other financial assets carried at
amortised cost is measured based on the 12-month expected
credit loss. The 12-month expected credit loss is the portion
of lifetime expected credit loss that results from default events
on a financial instrument that are possible within twelve
months after the reporting date. However, when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime expected credit loss.

Management considered the credit risk of deposits and other
receivables and amount due from an immediate holding
company as low as the counterparties have the capacity to
meet their contractual cash flow obligations in the near term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

i e B 1S R BT AT ()

6. < @hE b EEE
(b) EERB @

6. Financial risk management (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Other financial assets carried at amortised cost
(Continued)

The majority of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents are
deposited in major financial institutions located in Hong
Kong, Macau and the PRC which are of high credit rating.
Management does not expect any losses arising from non-
performance by these financial institutions.

The majority of the Group’s rental deposits are placed with
various landlords in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC, and are
due to refund upon the expiry of the tenancy agreements and
handover of the leased premises. The Group has not
experienced any defaults by the landlords.

The majority of the Group’s rental deposits for equipment are
placed with various reputable companies in Hong Kong and
the PRC, and are due to refund upon the termination of
equipment rental contracts and return of the leased visual
display equipment. The Group has not experienced any
defaults by the counterparties.

Therefore, the Group has assessed that the expected credit
losses for these financial assets carried at amortised costs
were close to zero under 12-month expected losses method,
and therefore no provision was recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ire M HmaR M EE (8

6. Financial risk management (Continued) 6. TRAERE®E®
(c) Liquidity risk (c) RBHEELRK
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and REB B FRE ﬁ,mﬂgﬂ RHIRAH
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains LREHReSESER  UERE
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in Wi R AR IR S B DA FE A B
the short and longer term. FEEHNRSESESK -
The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted cash flow, of ERKRUEBRBEREM2AE
the Group's financial liabilities is as follows: EsmaEnIEBommT
Within
1 year/ Between Between
repayable 1and 2 2and5
on demand years years Total
—Fr/
RIBZBEREERE 1225 2ES5F Mt
HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS$
BT BT BT BT
At 31 May 2022 R-E-_%FHA
=+-—H

Amount due to FESTREE 5 A

a related party 4,331,226 — — 4,331,226
Other payables and H b et 18 M FEE

accrued liabilities =Ry 19,293,959 — — 19,293,959
Lease liabilities HERE 3,136,486 1,673,184 213,391 5,023,061
Bank borrowings and ~ $RITE R R FE

overdrafts 11,513,753 — — 11,513,753

38,275,424 1,673,184 213,391 40,161,999
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6. Financial risk management (Continued) 6. TEEKEE@m
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) () REE S E &)
Repayable on
demand or Between Between
less than 1and 2 2 and 5
1 year years years Total
REREER/
% —F A 1224 2ZE54F @t
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
T T 7T B IT
At 31 May 2021 R —%F
EFA=+—H
Other payables and ~ H i e\ 318 K fE =T B (&
accrued liabilities 13,268,104 — — 13,268,104
Lease liabilities HEAR 2,444,616 2,234,942 962,262 5,641,820
Bank borrowings and  #R1TE R KB X
overdrafts 9,508,427 — — 9,508,427

25,221,147 2,234,942 962,262 28,418,351

(d) Interest rate risk (d) FIZ=E
At 31 May 2022 and 2021, the Group does not have any TeE T BE T S as N Ees — — &E SE
interest bearing financial assets or liabilities except for cash at =+ B REFBMNEXFEN
banks and bank overdrafts at floating rates and bank TR SEBETETUALRERETE
borrowings at fixed rates. The Group’s cash at banks earns FRAEMRITERIN NEE
interest at low interest rates, which are not significant. Hence, WEF Mzt EeMEENXEE -
bank borrowings at fixed rates are what expose the Group to AREBRIEITE S AKF = BEH
fair value interest rate risk. MEB - EEBERBNMTIRE-

Ilkt ZEEF R EORTE
FEASEEHRRFENEXR

At 31 May 2022 and 2021, the directors of the Company IEE R S S e s — %= F 8

consider that the interest rate risk in relation to the Group’s =t+—B ARAREERE H

cash at banks and bank borrowings is not significant as the AT ZF B R /)N - BN £ B 7 5R

fluctuation of the interest rates are minimal. TRENRBTERAEBN T XE
BLFEK
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6. Financial risk management (Continued) 6. TRAERE®E®
(e) Categories of financial instruments e) EMIEBENSE
2022 2021
—E-CF =B ===
HK$ HK$
BT 7T
Financial assets: EREE:
Financial assets at amortised cost (including 3% # $#45K R FIBRE A £ Bt & B
cash and cash equivalents) (BREESEREEEY) 11,340,903 14,022,151
Financial liabilities: TEEE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost IR AV ENSRAR 39,944,911 28,183,447
(f) Fair value ) 2¥E
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and REMBRARAMTHASE
financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement BEERCRHEENRAMBERE
of financial position approximate their respective fair values. ZBEHRAFERID
7. Revenue and segment information 7. WERDEER
Revenue represents the fair value of amounts received and WHERERGETBATIRRSE R
receivable from provision of visual display solution services and HEHERANE KR ERKIIBN A
equipment rental income. An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as FE - AEEHRZEHITAT :
follow:
2022 2021
—E=-= = e =
HKS$ HK$
BT BT

Revenue from visual display solution services K B8R B R R T REIRGEH

Wz 19,424,061 12,022,452
Equipment rental income REHEERA 923,399 326,651
Revenue from contracts with customers REREFAEAMNKE 20,347,460 12,349,103
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7. Revenue and segment information (Continued) 7. WakoEBER @

Segment information o 28 & ¥

For the purpose of resources allocation and performance Ao EREREETf  TEBEE%
assessment, the chief operating decision-maker (i.e. the chief EERAARERBTHREH) EFAEER
executive of the Group) reviews the overall results and financial ) R B e 4 T B R UR SO (IR T s A
position of the Group, which are prepared based on the same §|JE|’77|:EH HBERR) - B A&
accounting policies set out in note 4. Accordingly, the Group EEAE —KEDIp B K25 #E
presents only one single operating segment and no further analysis — DM o

is presented.

Geographical information ih & &k
The Group's revenue is attributable to the following geographical AREFBHKZEKRE A THIE TS :
markets:
2022 2021
—ZE2-= I T3 = —4E
HK$ HK$
BT T
Revenue: Iz -
Hong Kong 5 14,361,869 50243
PRC =e N5 1,889,591 3,000,096
Macau R 3,886,000 1,140,764
Taiwan a e — 456,000
Others =) 210,000 —
20,347,460 12,349,103
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Revenue and segment information (Continued)

Segment information (Continued)

Geographical information (Continued)

The Group’s total non-current assets were located in the following
regions based on the countries/place of domicile of the companies
comprising the Group:

(Continued)

W= & o &8 & B om)

2 EE R @

#hEE ¥ (&)
AEEFRDEERE(RAEEHA
TRRMEBRR EELE D) LRT
5l it &

2022 2021
—_=E=-= b T
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Non-current assets: ERBEE
Hong Kong E B 66,079,387 80,451,033
PRC ==l 8,040,078 5,157,808
Macau Y PY 1,044,843 661,917
75,164,308 86,270,758

Timing of revenue recognition
All timing of revenue recognition is over time for the year ended 31
May 2022 and 2021.

Information about major customers
Revenue attributed from customers that accounted for 10% or
more of the Group’s total revenue during the year is as follows:

Iy %5 T 2R R
BHE_T__FR-_ZT-_—FHA
ET—RIEFE MAERRERER
MR °

FHREEEFNER
RER - EAREEAKEI10%HIA L
MEP ZEIEREMT

2022 2021

—E-CF —EE = =

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Customer A ZEA N/ATER* 2,958,333
Customer B ZF5B 5,677,000 564,500
* The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total revenue of * HEFE B Uk 25 4 A N £2 (B 48 U 25 ER10%

the Group. Ak -
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Revenue and segment information (Continued)

Segment information (Continued)

Revenue from visual display solution services

Revenue from visual display solution services is recognised over the
show or event period of a project as customers have simultaneously
received and consumed the benefits provided by the Group's
services. Revenue is recognised using the output method by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation, which is directly measured by the value of
each show or event being performed.

A performance obligation is a contractual promise to transfer a
distinct good or service to a customer and is the unit of account
under HKFRS 15. Contracts of the Group include various services
which is integrated into a single deliverable and are therefore
generally accounted for as a single performance obligation.

The Group derives revenue primarily under fixed price contracts. If
at any time the costs to complete the contract are estimated to

e ISR R M T ()
7. MRk IER @

2 EMER @

RERGETHRS ZRBEH WS
KBBREBERBRDERE O ER
BEXBEBERSETHHERR B
/38 P (R B BUAS 3 K R AN & B A iR 75
RO Mg - WEm D2 RERET
BROBRBETHERERERE L AR T
RETENEENEEERIZMETT
BHRNSEBWEENE -
BHEERATEFEERNEE MR
BeaMAwE AREEMBREE
AIEISRIBE T 2 @5 Bz - AEEM
BRNERZERY HEERE T
RNRR Rt —RELKE—BNEA
AR

AEEMNKRETEXREEEERSG
#9 o fisd IO 7] B [ 1 51 SEAX B 49 B9 K

exceed the remaining amount of the consideration under the RBBEEHNRENFG L BIER
contract, then a provision is recognized. A o
Other Income 8. HA
2022 2021
—E-= — s
HK$ HK$
BT T
Handling income FEBWA — 130,690
Government grants (Note) IR 6 Bh (BT &%) 273,798 995,625
Equipment repairment, technical consultancy, & #1& ~ BlTe538
project management income and sales of EEBRRAREZEHEES &
equipment 2,683,781 609,000
2,957,579 1, 735M.15;
Note: Government grants represented subsidies obtained from the Employment Wiz : BRISABIIE B BB ERITHREBFTREE

Support Scheme of the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region and subsidies obtained from the local governments in Mainland China
and Macau to subsidise the operating costs of the Group's subsidiaries. There
were no unfulfilled conditions attached to these grants as at the end of the
year.

EIFBESHMMRATE AN RRM
77 BRAT AT B0 HE R - DA B AN SR [ BT R
RAIMBERAE - RER ZEHPILE
P 5 R 2 A AR £
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10.

11.
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Other (losses)/gains, net

9. Hftt(f518) WHEFH

2022 2021
—E-= =R = s
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Exchange (losses)/gains, net BE 3 (B518), Wz % 58 (247,076) 336,812
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEDE - BEMRENHKE
equipment — 157,318
(247,076) 494,130
Finance costs 10. Bf 3% BR A
2022 2021
—E-C—F ===tz
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Interest on bank borrowings AT EKH B 365,708 254,559
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEME 278,517 286,212
644,225 540,771
Income tax credit 1. FIBHRER
2022 2021
—E-CF =E = =4
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Deferred income tax RIEFTISFL 567,617 4,939,903




11.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Income tax credit (Continued)

During the years ended 31 May 2022 and 2021, no Hong Kong
profits tax has been provided for as the Group did not generate any
estimated assessable profit.

The companies of the Group established in the PRC are subject to
the PRC corporate income tax at the rate of 25% for the years
ended 31 May 2022 and 2021. Companies incorporated and
operating in Macau are subject to Macau complementary tax, under
which taxable income of up to MOP600,000 is exempted from
taxation with amounts beyond this amount to be taxed at a fixed
rate of 12% for the years ended 31 May 2022 and 2021. During
the years ended 31 May 2022 and 2021, no PRC corporate income
tax and Macau complementary tax have been provided for as the
Group did not generate any estimated assessable profit.

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the
applicable rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the
Group operates, based on existing legislation, interpretations and
practices in respect thereof.

re M mR N

11.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited

(%)

FrE8E % @

RESZZER=2S=—45a
=+—HLEFE BRASETEE
EEA A ET R R A - R E AT R
BRENSH R -

HE-_ZE-_—_k=-_Z=-—%H8A
=+—HLEEE AEEEFBRKL
ZRRIBRS%ZHEHMF E D
%% Fio B AK L I 2 B 1)

RIZABMBRPIFISRARN Bt
Fﬁé_z::iﬁ_gi—iﬂﬂ
=+—HLIFE &%B¥600,000
TR R AER AT - Bt
BENSHEAREERE12%EH -
BHE_T_—_#kR-_ZFT-_—%HHA
=t+—BLEFE BRASETEE
A AT ] {d 51 FE SR B i A - BUIE 4B BE AR
BEEMGHERPMS MR
B o

Hih 377 EaRTBE A R IR TR AR
BREMmERERERITHERKR
R-REERABFEE 2EBREHG
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11. Income tax credit (Continued) 11. BB E R @
The taxation on the loss before income tax differs from the M EENRBAERNRNERE S
theoretical amount that would arise using the taxation rate of Hong MEAEMEIERSZE W NAR:

Kong as follows:

2022 2021
—E-CF T e
HKS$ HK$
BT 7T
Loss before tax Br AT 18 (24,976,905) (40,018,305)
Calculated at a taxation rate of 16.5% BIRE16.5%:T & (4,121,189) (6,603,020)
Effect of different tax rates for NG ENEE S -2
different countries 375,397 309,005
Tax effect of income not taxable for BEHRBAZHIEZE
tax purpose — (25,961)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for TAIHMBRAE 2 BHIBETE
tax purpose 319,829 197,304
Tax effect of estimated tax losses ARG B IEEE 2 HIE
not recognised - 3,051,864 1,182,769
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax loss &) F3 4t Bil K 7 72 7 1B &5 18 (193,518) —
Income tax credit SR e (567,617) (4,939,903)
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12. Loss for the year 12. FRAEE
2022 2021
—E—-= =R = —=4E
HK$ HK$
BT BT
The Group's loss for the year is stated REEZ FAEEETEHNR
after charging the following: R ZE=RER
Auditor’s remuneration 1% R Bl 650,000 904,272
Cost of equipment and spare parts % I BE A PR AR 383,754 431,925
Directors’ remuneration (note 13) EEEHM(HIEE13) 1,925,648 2,503,590
Other staff costs: Hhfe B :
Salaries and other benefits He hkEMEF 6,659,734 9,468,404
Retirement benefit schemes contributions RIREFEEIE R 1,313,602 1,126,634
Total staff costs EE KA 2% 9,898,984 13,098,628
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment %% - E L& EHEITE 19,271,456 19,540,771
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FEREEERTE 2,975,839 3,391,017
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13. Directors’, chief executive’s and employees’ 13. EE - THHEBREESHMH

emoluments
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERTHAR FN
The emoluments paid or payable to directors and chief ENKEMNOARATEE RITR
executive of the Company are as follows: B E ISR T
Performance
Salaries and and  Retirement
other discretionary scheme
Fee benefits bonus contributions Total
FeK ¥ER BIRETE
e Hi g Fl BERA 3 @Et
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Ma Lie (Chairman of BZlL 4 (EE€ X F)
the Board) (appointed (MN=ZE2=-Z=
on 11 May 2022) TAT+—HEZME) — 42,339 - — 42,339
Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis 15 3 % 4 £
(Chief Executive Officer) — (1TER# %) — 1,224,240 — 18,000 1,242,240
Mr. Tam Chun Yu BEFLE — 328,950 — 15,023 343,973
Independent non- BIFHTES
executive directors
Mr. Ji Gui Bao (appointed 42 & & 5% 4
on 11 May 2022) (RN=—ZT=—=
AA+—BEZE) 6,774 - - — 6,774
Mr. Cui Hai Bin (appointed & 8 & 5% 4
on 11 May 2022) GR====
AA+—BEZHE) 6,774 - - — 6,774
Mr. Chen Yue (appointed [ i 5 4
on 11 May 2022) GR=E=E ==
AAt+—BEZHE) 6,774 - - — 6,774
Ms. Jiang Yu E (appointed 2 F #f &2 +
on 11 May 2022) (R====
AA+—BEZHE) 6,774 - - — 6,774
Mr. Li Kai Sing (resigned 2= Bl 55 £
on 11 May 2022) GRN====
A A+—BEfE) 90,000 — — — 90,000
Mr. Ma Tsz Chun (resigned 55 i (& 4 &=
on 11 May 2022) R=F ==
A A+—B#EfE) 90,000 — — — 90,000
Ms. Loh Lai Ping, Phillis B4+
(resigned on 11 May (NmEE =
2022) A A+—B#EfE) 90,000 — — — 90,000
Total for 2022 B F@AG 297,096 1,595,529 — 33,023 1,925,648
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13. Directors’, chief executive’s and employees’ 13. EE  THABKEE HFMH

emoluments (Continued) (1)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments () EERTHRASFHN @
(Continued)
Salaries and
other Defined
allowances  Discretionary  contribution
Fee  and benefits bonuses  pension costs Total
e Hi R
we EERET WIEEL BZ2ER FoE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT AT AT
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis 15 53 5 4
(Chief Executive Officer)  (1TE42%;) = 1,224,240 300,000 18,000 1,542,240
Mr. Tam Chun Yu BEFRLE — 512,400 — 1167950/ SRS 5 (1)
Independent non- BYHTES
executive directors
Mr. Li Kai Sing (resigned 2= Bf A 5& 4
on 11 May 2022) (R=—T==
AA+—HEE) 144,000 — — — 144,000
Mr. Ma Tsz Chun (resigned 5 & %&£ 4
on 11 May 2022) (R=—ZT=——
AA+—HEME) 144,000 — — — 144,000
Ms. Loh Lai Ping, Phillis BB # +
(resigned on 11 May (R=ZZ=—=
2022) T A+ —HEE) 144,000 — — — 144,000
Total for 2021 —E-—F@ct 432,000 1,736,640 300,000 34,950 2,503,590
None of the directors received or will receive any retirement B T = U D) 3 48 UK B AE (AR IR
benefits during the year (2021: Nil). BRM(CZE - —F:#E)o
None of the directors received or will receive any termination FE R E E WD g Uk B E A 4R 1
benefits during the year (2021: Nil). BR(—EBE—-——F &)
None of the directors waived or agreed to waive any FRAEE ERERE S RET A
emoluments during the year (2021: Nil). (B -—F &)
During the year, the Company did not pay consideration to RER KNG EREEESRER
any third parties for making available directors’ services (2021: FERME="FSXNREB(_T - —&F:
Nil). B
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13. Directors’, chief executive’s and employees’ 13. EE  THABKEES F M
emoluments (Continued) (%)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

() EERITHARETFM @

(b)

(Continued)

There were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favor

FABMBERHNESR ZTE=F

of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected ZRIEEFERBEETEAEY
entities with such directors during the year (2021: Nil). BAZER - EBERNEMKZS

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Company’s business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year (2021: Nil).

Employees’ emoluments

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in
the Group for the year ended 31 May 2022 include two
directors (2021: two directors). The emoluments paid/payable

(b)

(ZE=—F 8|

RERKENTMER - KD F
WESLEANAEZTEZERMEE
BEEAEIMABBARAZE
BZEARS THERGHNTFE
(Z2E=Z—F:8\)-

& & %7 i

ZK?R @i_f::fﬁﬂﬂ
—t+—BLEFENREES
MATBEBERMEBESR(ZE=—

to the five highest paid individuals are as follows: F MEER) BN EHFES
EEFMATHOBMES0T

2022 2021

—E-CF =

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Salaries and other benefits e kEMETR 2,384,910 3,421,140

Retirement benefit schemes contributions & k1@ 7| 51 2 {4t 7k 77,996 85,183

2,462,906 35015, 325
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13. Directors’, chief executive’s and employees’ 13. EE  THABKEE HFMH

emoluments (Continued) ()
(b) Employees’ emoluments (Continued) (b) EEFM @)
The emoluments fell within the following bands: e N ATEE :
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—fF
Number of Number of
employees employees
EBE A" EE AE
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 £ % 1,000,0007% 7T 4 4
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 % 7T % 1,500,000/ 7T 1 =
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7% 7T £ 2,000,000/% 7T — 1
5 5
During the years ended 31 May 2022 and 2021, no e e RSl — T — &
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors AE=1t—HILFEE A~EBH
or other members of the five highest paid individuals as an HmEERESSK AR RS A
inducement to join, upon joining the Group, leaving the THHREMKESNMNE  EA
Group or as compensation for loss of office. W EMARER - INAKRE
& BEFANEE R RESIERB
(e -
14. Dividends 14. BB
No dividend was paid, declared or proposed by the Company for ANIN Ellesn e medmim =2 5 B = g0 = [§
the year ended 31 May 2022 (2021:Nil). IEFEIES N B IR sk sk R [

E(ZE=—F  |E)o
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15. Loss per share 15. BREE
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share is based on BREARANEEFEEEVIZATNSZES
the following: =i
Loss BB
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—fF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Loss for the purpose of calculating basicand Gt & G E A K& #EE 18
diluted loss per share imEmNER (24,243,425) (35,011,096)
Number of shares R&H&E
2022 2021
—E-C—F =EH ==
Weighted average number of ordinary shares EJL HEEREAREEEE
for the purpose of calculating basic and = B A% N S 15 8
diluted loss per share 800,000,000 800,000,000
16. Non-controlling interests 16. FIERER
The total comprehensive loss for the year ended 31 May 2022 R ESEERE—_E-_—_F 1A
attributable to non-controlling interests amounted to HK$165,681 =t BUHFENETEEELEA
(2021: HK$63,078) which are attributable to two individual 165,6817‘%77:(: =T — — F : 63,0788
shareholders of Shenzhen Shiji Tiansheng Technology Limited ) hEBRN ﬂ|| 40 K A% Rl
(“SSTTL"). SSTTL mainly incurred operating expenses of B QB (F f)llﬁ%ﬂi%ﬂ%ﬁd) B /R
approximately HK$753,406 (2021: HK$1,001,407) for the year ZEARE REE-_ZT_-__FHA
ended 31 May 2022, and it did not contribute significant revenue, =S+—HLEE FYHLE RERBE
total assets and total liabilities to the Group. FTBEEKER T 47534068 L (=

T — — 4 : 1,001,407 T) B I &
$%@M&m~ﬁ@ﬁf‘%&ﬁ@ﬁa@{’ﬁﬁ$
KEF -
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17. Property, plant and equipment 17. ¥ -BERZH
Furniture
Visual display  and other Motor Leasehold
equipment equipment vehicles improvements Total
BEET HKER
R HtbRE AE HELE #at
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT
cosT B
At 1 June 2020 RZTZZTF,NA—H 191435710 1,393,670 2,219,462 1,536,468 196,585,310
Additions NE 8,956,006 81,616 — 106,626 9,144,248
Disposals it = — —  (G72215) — (972,215)
Exchange difference fEN =% 534,797 3,144 — 4,950 542,891
At 31 May 2021 and R—_ZT——
1 June 2021 ﬂﬂ_+ B &
—E-—F,"A—HB 200,926,513 1,478,430 1,247,247 1,648,044 205,300,234
Additions NE 13,013,635 5,400 — — 13,019,035
Exchange differences &N =% (133,992) (345) — (2,877) (137,214)
At 31 May 2022 =
FA=+—H 213,806,156 1,483,485 1,247,247 1,645,167 218,182,055
ACCUMULATED Rt
DEPRECIATION
At 1 June 2020 RZZE-_ZTF,NA—H 107,460,331 1,221,774 1,588,902 1,342,198 111,613,205
Charge for the year FALZH 19,199,859 100,341 107,011 133,560 19,540,771
Disposals HE — —  (599,532) — (599,532)
Exchange differences BN =% 175,934 2,705 — 4,950 183,589
At 31 May 2021 and RZEZ—%F
1 June 2021 TA=+—-BR
—E-—%,"A—H 126,836,124 1,324,820 1,096,381 1,480,708 130,738,033
Charge for the year FAXH 19,007,140 77,673 58,400 128,243 19,271,456
Exchange differences BN =% (54,918) (331) — (1,643) (56,892)
At 31 May 2022 W-E=-=
HA=+—H 145,788,346 1,402,162 1,154,781 1,607,308 149,952,597

CARRYING AMOUNT fREE

At 31 May 2022 i

FA=+—H 68,017,810 81,323 92,466 37,859 68,229,458
At 31 May 2021 RZE=-—4%

Eals =3 74,090,389 153,610 150,866 167,336 74,562,201
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Right-of-use assets

Disclosure of lease-related items:

18. ERAEELE

HEMEBNEERENT

2022 2021
—E-= = =5z
HK$ HK$
BT BT
At 31 May: RAEE=E—F ¢
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE
— Premises — % 4,499,988 5,092,459
— Office equipment —WREE — 2,720
4,499,988 5,095,179
The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted 7N &= @ 1 & & & B 15 R 738
cash flows, of the Group's lease liabilities is BERIEHHIEB DM
as follows: N
— Less than 1 year —1%FR 3,136,486 2,644,616
— Between 1 and 2 years —1E2F 1,673,184 2,034,942
— Between 2 and 5 years —2%E5F 213,391 962,262
5,023,061 5,641,820
Year ended 31 May: HERAA=T—HIEFE:
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CRREENE
— Premises — ¥ 2,973,119 3,374,697
— Office equipment — W RN 2,720 16,320
2,975,839 3,391,017
Lease interests HE#E= 278,517 286,212
Expenses related to short-term leases EEHERBERX 2,378,706 4,719,557
Cash outflow for leases EBEHEEZRS RS
— Payments for short-term leases in respect — BEAHEBYWEREZEZ
of rental premises and equipment REEE 2R 2,378,706 4,719,557
— Payments of principal and interest element —EEHEEBELAE K&
of lease liabilities PSR 3,252,201 3,522,133
5,630,907 8,241,690
Additions to right-of-use assets FEREEEARE 2,380,648 4,983,013
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ire s maR M (B

18. Right-of-use assets (Continued) 18. FRAEEE @
The Group leases various offices, warehouses and office equipment. NEFBHEEKRER AT EELEEA
Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 3 years. BB HEBL Imﬁ,ﬁ BR—RERAEIE
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a 3F -FHEKARREBBELENR B8
wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements SLBARIEREIGEE - B HB AR
do not impose any covenants other than the rental deposits in the BEHESENHEKRESIN HEWH u%
leased assets that are held by the lessors. Leased assets were not be WEBEBMERNRZE HEBEEDTSE
used as security for borrowing purposes. VEE I o
There are no extension and termination options included in the HEAHNTEBSERERKR ILIEE
lease contracts. FE o
19. Trade and other receivables, prepayments 19. ESRHEMBEWRIE - B
and deposits MERESE
2022 2021
—E-=F —F—F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Trade receivables 2 5 FE W IE 13,790,437 13,156,541
Less: allowance for bad and doubtful debts W R E R (9,614,247) (8,450,229)
Trade receivables, net Z 5 e W RIEF R 4,176,190 4,706,312
Prepayments for purchase of equipment BERENTENKIE 1,972,934 6,316,794
Deposits for equipment rental FE RS 5,660,593 6,498,861
Other receivables, prepayment and deposits H i fE IR FIE - TR RIE &
re 1,947,562 2,700,767
13,757,279 20,222,734
Less: Non-current portion B IEMENED
Prepayments for purchase of equipment BEREEMNR (1,972,934) (6,316,794)
Prepayments and rental deposits BNRELEE ?;z% (321,912) (296,584)
(2,294,846) (6,613,378)
Current portion B EB 11,462,433 13,609,356
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19. Trade and other receivables, prepayments
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and deposits (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other receivables,
prepayments and deposits were denominated in the following

19. ESREMEBERRE - BN
RERRE @

AEBEE S R EHMREKKE  FAMNK
BRReNEEENTIIERAE:

currencies:
2022 2021
—E-= =ER
HK$ HK$
BT & TT
HK$ BT 6,699,481 5,276,567
us$ ETT 4,013,168 12,400,481
RMB AR 3,000,676 2,455,740
MOP RFTHE 43,954 89,946
13,757,279 20,222,734
(@) Trade receivables () EZEWFHE
The Group's trade receivables are generally settled by cash on $ EENESERFE—RER
delivery or credit period of 90 days after provision of services. &R S IR (AR 7 12 90 X HY (= FE HA
As at 31 May 2022 and 2021, the Group's ageing analysis of |9q LIS EE - R-_ZE-—&FK
the gross trade receivables based on invoice date is as follows: —E-—®#FA=+—H K&
BEEREZHHNEAE ZH RN
AR 9 ﬂ*ﬁ R
2022 2021
—E-—F —T——F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
0-30 days 0ZE30K 1,291,105 996,167
31-60 days 31 260K 110,000 755,000
61-90 days 61 290K 994,000 1,279,253
Over 90 days B 3E0K 11,395,332 10,126,121
13,790,437 13,156,541

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Credit limits attributable to customers are reviewed

regularly.

REXEMHELZA AKH
S EEREPNEELARLME
EREFPNEERE -AEEETE
HRaEPNEERE -
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19. ES5REMEBERRE - BN
RERRE @

(a) BEZEBWRIE @

19. Trade and other receivables, prepayments
and deposits (Continued)

(a) Trade receivables (Continued)

As at 31 May 2022 and 2021, trade receivables of
HK$11,395,332 and HK$10,126,121 were past due
respectively, and impairment of trade receivables of
HK$9,614,247 (2021: HK$8,450,229) have been provided
for.

Movement on the provision for impairment of trade
receivables is as follows:

m_y__ﬁﬁ_g:—iﬁﬂ
=+—H8" %53 /11,395332%
TT 510,126,121 T K & 5 fE Uk
REEBH WEFREZERK
X IA B (B B 159,614,247 T (=
T = —4F :8,450,229/8 7T °

BB FBERBERENZE SN
B

2022 2021

—_=E=-= T = ==

HK$ HK$

BT BT

At beginning of the year =) 8,450,229 2,821,350
Provision for impairment for the year F R R AE B 1,164,018 5,628,879
At end of the year EEZS 9,614,247 8,450,229

The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 to
provide for expected credit losses using the lifetime expected
loss provision for all trade receivables. In determining the
expected credit losses for trade receivables, the management
of the Group has taken into account the historical default
experience and the future prospect of the industries and/or
considering various external sources of actual and forecast
economic information, as appropriate, in estimating the
probability of default of each of the trade receivables
occurring within their respective loss assessment time horizon,
as well as the loss upon default in each case.
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19. Trade and other receivables, prepayments
and deposits (Continued)

(a) Trade receivables (Continued)

idated Financial Statements (Continued)

19. ESREMEBERRE - BN
RERRE @

(a) B ZEBWNIE @

Current 91-180 181-365
(notyet 1-90 days days days > 1 year
due) pastdue  pastdue pastdue  past due Total
BDEA (1 A an B By ay
BI#) 1Z90H 91Z180H 181Z%365H  BB1F )
At 31 May 2022 i
AA=t—H
Weighted average METHREE
expected loss rate IES 54% 42% 50% 60% 96%
Receivable amount (HK$) JE Ut 218
(L) 2,395,105 1,245,049 3,151,411 1,265,727 5,733,145 13,790,437
Loss allowance (HK$) BB EE (B ) 1,284,582 527,467 1,562,419 754942 5,484,837 9,614,247
At 31 May 2021 RZEZ—F
AA=+—H
Weighted average METHEERE
expected loss rate BR 27% 43% 49% 0% 81%
Receivable amount (HK$) J& W38 (B T) 3,030,420 545,660 1,027,460 — 8,553,001 13,156,541
Loss allowance (HKS)  E5#ERE (B TT) 814,343 234,570 506,497 — 6,894,819 8,450,229

(b)

Other receivables, prepayments and deposits

Other receivables, prepayments and deposits mainly represent
rental and utility deposits and prepayments for insurance and
maintenance.
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20. Balance with related party

re M mR N

20. SEREAEE 5 BV 45 B

(%)

Maximum Maximum
amount amount
outstanding outstanding
during the during the
year ended year ended As at As at
31 May 2022 31 May 2021 31 May 2022 31 May 2021
BZE Bz
—E-—F o 55— ==
FA=+t—H hfSaas A-T=-= e
LEENES LFENRR FHA FHA
RAEESHE AREESH =t+—H SSl=
HK$ HK$ HKS$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Amount due from the FEH&ZE@% S ¥/NE]
immediate holding company 18 50,000 50,000 — 50,000
The balance is non-trade related, unsecured, interest-free and E&SAIEE5HE EIEH . ¢

repayable on demand.

EREBREREER-

RERRETEEY

RehkBReFEBYNHENUATEEF

21. Cash and cash equivalents 21.

Cash and cash equivalents were denominated in the following

currencies: A :
2022 2021
—s=-= == =42
HK$ HK$
BT BT
HK$ BT 647,508 1,015,380
RMB AR 111,991 140,189
Others HA4p 70,804 1,14
830,303 1,166,683

Cash at banks earned interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. The Group's cash and cash equivalents denominated
in RMB were deposited with banks in Hong Kong and the PRC. The
conversion of the RMB denominated balances into foreign
currencies and the remittance of funds out of the PRC is subject to
the rules and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated
by the Government of the People’s Republic of China.

ROTREBVBEEARTERMNE - &
FRRNERBAME - REEBUAARE
AENREMREFENIFERRE
BRABEEITA - AREEHENAR
SN A K A P B R SN E R B R T
REARKMBEBM L& HINEE S
Z BN BOER
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22. Other payables and accrued liabilities

22 HttE A RERETAE

2022 2021

—E=-= =R ===

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Payables for equipment purchases PRRE G & fE N R IE 7,090,316 5,129,930
Equipment rental payable FEREZERES 4,494,735 2,342,992
Other accruals and payables HipEzt2 A RFEN I 7,708,908 6,319,553
19,293,959 13,792,475

As at 31 May 2022 and 2021, the Group’s ageing analysis of the R - —FE_T_-_—FHHA

payables for equipment based on invoice date is as follows:

ZS+—B AKEERBZAHOR
RN RENREDTOT

2022 2021

—E=-= =T ==4z

HKS$ HK$

BT BT

0-30 days 0ZE 30K — 132,600
Over 90 days #90 K 7,090,316 4,997,330
Total FEE 7,090,316 5,129,930

The carrying amounts of the Group’s other payables and accrued
liabilities were denominated in the following currencies:

7N 5 B B A N SRR M EEF BB R

EEA TS E%EHE :

2022 2021
—_s-= = —kE

HK$ HK$

BT BT

RMB AR 7,756,975 5,477,603
HK$ BT 9,245,195 7,592,617
Us$ ETT 2,202,168 586,005
MOP SE Y K 89,621 136,250
19,293,959 13,792,475
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23. Contract liabilities 23. EHEE
Disclosures of revenue-related items: HIWZEENEERELT -
31 May 2022 31 May 2021 1 June 2020
—E=-= = —E-FF
EA=+—-8B HA=+—8H 7 F =18
As at S HK$ HK$ HK$
BT T BT
Contract liabilities BHRNEECGERBARE)
(non-current liabilities) 944,000 360,000 —
Contract receivables SRARKFIE(BEES
(included in trade receivables) el R IE) 4,176,190 4,706,312 —
2022 2021
—E-CF =5 = — &=
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Transaction prices allocated to performance RERPEEREKXNBHEMS
obligations unsatisfied at end of year and W FEHA R LA T F B #E R R W
expected to be recognised as revenue in: ?&Z?E ZE
— 2024 —EZNF 360,000 360,000
— 2025 ——F_HF 584,000 —
944,000 360,000
Significant changes in contract liabilities during the year: FERNAHBRBZERED :
2022 2021
—E-CF = —l=s
HK$ HK$
7T BT
Increase due to operations in the year F R FE L E M 584,000 360,000
A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer AMBEAGBEAEERUREERE
products or services to a customer for which the Group has received (KRBLBIH) MEE ZE DB
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the A= =
customer.
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23. Contract liabilities (Continued) 23. eHNAEEm
As at 31 May 2022, contract liabilities amounted to HK$944,000 RN =522 =558 5= 9 =[5 9 = )
(2021: HK$360,000). No revenue was recognised during the year B & A944,0008 (=& = — ¢ :
ended 31 May 2022 relates to carried-forward contract liabilities 360,000/ JT ) ° Eijzi_i = ¢£ )=
(2021: Nil). The amount is expected to be recognised as revenue =St+—HIEE HEgEsESHNE
within 3 years and the amount does not include variable 15 BAWDFZ(—E-—F:\E) - 58
consideration which is constrained. RBEEHERIFRAERAR= B8

ﬁﬁ AR BEEZRG R ZERE-

24. Amounts due to a related party 24. FE{TRBAEE 5 FRIE
The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. ElFEAEERT 2ERAKRENR
B -
2022 2021
—E=-= TEE T =t
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Next Vision Management Limited (Note) Next Vision Management Limited
(B 53) 4,331,226 i
Note: Next Vision Management Limited is beneficially owned by Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Bt 5% © Next Vision Management Limited i 15 3% % 4
Dennis as to 75%, who is the director of the Group. HEEREHTS%  EAKEBHES -
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25. Bank borrowings and overdraft 25 RITERREX
As at 31 May 2022 and 2021, bank borrowings and overdrafts R =S = = &2 )SZ =% = =& 3 5
were repayable as follows: =+t—H EAEENRTERREX
W
2022 2021
—E-CF = e
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Bank overdrafts RITBEX 991,146 =
Bank borrowings, secured: HMITIE - B
Balances repayable within one year classified AR —FRNEE - DE BRI
as current liabilities B EN S 3,638,841 2,561,507
Balances repayable after one year, with 2| B" FREER BEREX
clause of repayable on demand classified BEERMRSEAREAE
as current liabilities & H) 45 85 6,883,766 6,946,920
11,513,753 9,508,427

The above bank borrowings bear interests ranging from 2.75% to
4.19% per annum for the year ended 31 May 2022 (2021: 2.75%
t0 3.75%).

As at 31 May 2022 and 2021, the fair value of current bank
borrowings approximated their carrying amount, as the impact of
discounting is not significant.

NERTERRBEZE_ZE=__FAA
=+ —HLEFEZFMENF2.75%
£4.19%( = = — NSO
3.75%) °

=

=

B R-ZE=-_—%1A
=E=1[" m#%ﬁ%%Tﬁ (=g
BTEINAFEEELERAERS

—g-—F&% 145
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25. Bank borrowings and overdraft (continued)

146

As at 31 May 2022 and 2021, the Group’s bank borrowings based
on the scheduled repayment dates as set out in the loan
agreements and ignoring the effect of any repayment on demand
clause were repayable as follows:

25.

(Continued)

BITERREIZ@

R_E_—_FEF-_ZEZ_—%1A
=t+—B AEERTEXRERUAT
HREE(BEERBEAEHEE

B WA (R B R A
ye):

KE

2022 2021

—E-CF TER T s

HK$ HK$

BT AT

Within 1 year 15K 4,629,986 2,561,507
Between 1 and 2 years 1Z22F 1,692,141 3,066,101
Between 2 and 5 years 2E5F 3,910,222 3,575,109
Over 5 years HBiBd5F 1,281,404 305,710
11,513,753 9,508,427

The bank borrowings were denominated in HK$ (2021: HK$).

The Group’s bank borrowings as at 31 May 2022 and 2021 were
secured by guarantees under the SME Financing Guarantee Scheme
by HKMC Insurance Limited (“HKMCI"), corporate guarantee and
director’s personal guarantee.

The Group has complied with the financial covenants of its
borrowing facilities during the years ended 31 May 2022 and 2021.

Banking facilities

As at 31 May 2022, the Group had total banking facilities of
HK$13,000,000 (2021: HK$10,000,000), of which HK$11,513,753
(2021: HK$9,508,427) were utilised. The Group's banking facilities
were secured by the following:

() as at 31 May 2022, the issue of guarantees under the SME
Financing Guarantee Scheme by HKMCI which is wholly
owned by the government of Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region to the extent of HK$10,000,000 (2021:
HK$9,600,000); and
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AEBR T -_—FRk=-T=-_—FH
A=+ —HB®RTEFBESLBER
BAERARI(EAZRERRBES
NEEEERFTERENER 28
ERRESEAERERR -

BE_ZT_—_#k-_ZFT_—FHA
=+t—HLEFEE AEEEBEFHEHE
AR E H I ISR o

G 2%13,000,000,%
5ﬂ_$:—¢-mmmm%ﬁ%
HAF11513738 (=T = — &
9,508,427 8 L) E B A - A& B AIRTT
BLE LA B S IE R

@ AREEI=EaE =B S
BEERBR(BEBSFINTHRE
BR2&%8)REF/NE@E
P& (R 51 8] 2 H £ % 10,000,000 7%
7T (= F = — 4 : 9,600,000/ 7T
RER: &
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25. Bank borrowings and overdraft (continued)

26.

4= O\ H

N

25. RITERKREX @

(i) as at 31 May 2022 and 2021, corporate guarantee by the (ii)
Company and the personal guarantee by a director of the

Company.

Deferred taxation

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities prior to
offsetting of balances within the same taxation jurisdiction is as

B % R B w ()

1%&$Z\\57—%%$ﬁf#ﬂ'ﬂ/\

AR -

26. I #iE Bi1H

I 48 7 — Bi A5 7R B 9 A BT B S
FERAERABHEHMT -

follows:
Provision Right-of-
for use
Accelerated impairment assets and
tax of trade Tax lease
depreciation receivables losses liabilities Total
nE B3 EWRR EREEE
BREHNE BRERE BEEBSR RHEHEAEE ot
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
T T T T 7T
At 1 June 2020 RZEZZFTFH—H 8,258,492 (375,796) (2,492,171) (23,021) 5,367,504
(Credited)/charged (5t A¥B %) BB &m MR
to profit or loss (1,179,366) (615,043) (3,100,560) (44,934) (4,939,903)
At31May 2021 RZ-ZZTZ—FHA
and 1June 2021 =+—BRK
—2-—F%,H—H 7,079,126 (990,839) (5,592,731) (67,955) 427,601
(Credited)/charged (5t AfB25), /B 18 Bk
to profit or loss (711,767) (168,273) 310,115 2,308 (567,617)
At31 May2022 R-T- 4
AA=+—H 6,367,359  (1,159,112) (5,282,616) (65,647) (140,016)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried
forward to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit
through the future taxable profits is probable. As at 31 May 2022,
the Group did not recognised deferred tax assets of approximately
HK$2,076,332 (2021: HK$2,230,866) in respect of accumulated tax
losses of the PRC and Macau subsidiaries amounting to
approximately HK$8,523,008 (2021: HK$8,538,318) that can be
carried forward against future taxable income. The tax losses of
these PRC subsidiaries is amounting to approximately HK$8,104,394
(2021: HK$5,836,717), will expire within 5 years, while the tax
losses of the Macau subsidiary is amounting to approximately
HK$418,614 (2021: HK$2,701,601), do not have an expiry date.
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AEEHRIEEEMBERNELENEH
BE ERRNA ﬂfkﬂ’éu%mﬂﬂ,a
fﬁ*ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂxﬂﬂrﬁﬁ EOR=N
% R _$::¢£HE+*E'
Zli’illﬂﬁiﬁ’iqﬂl&iﬁﬁﬂﬁgﬁﬁﬂ
FEEE R RERTUA 2 BT 518
&5 18 498,523,008 B L (=& — — 4 :
8,538,318/ 70) ' MERIEL TS
ﬁ%mz,om,wz;‘%ﬁ(_T:fi
2,230,866/ 70) c ix EH B M B A A
Z T T B 18 498,104,394 (= =
— — % :583671787T) EMN5FER
fEw > MBEPIKEB AR ZHIEEEY
418,6148 L (=& = — 4 : 2,701,601
EoT) W EEm B E e
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27. Lease liabilities

27. HE&AE

Present value of lease

Lease payments payments
HEMSR HENRZERE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—_s-= SR — %S e Sl == s
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT 7B 7T BT
Within one year —E R 3,136,486 2,444,616 2,967,170 2,343,377
In the second to fifth years, % - ZF A 4F
inclusive (PREEEMSE) 1,886,575 3,197,204 1,838,803 3,063,539
5,023,061 5,641,820
Less: Future finance charges il : KK & =X (217,088) (234,904)
Present value of lease HEBERE
liabilities 4,805,973 5,406,916 4,805,973 5,406,916
Less: Amount due for s 1218 A B ER
settlement within A 7B 458 R ER
12 months (shown H(RRBEE
under current TFHR)
liabilities) (2,967,170) (2,343,377)
Amount due for settlement R 12{& B 12 2| Bf 0 78
after 12 months 4B B8 1,838,803 3,063,559
At 31 May 2022, the average borrowing rate was 5.5% (2021: R=FE=—_—FERAA=+—H ' FEH&

5.5%). Interest rate are fixed at the contract dates and thus expose
the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

RFNEAB55% (ZF=—F :55%) °
FMEREYHBHREE  A5EANKE
BN EF R -
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balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior
year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes
amount due to a related party, bank borrowings and overdraft as
disclosed in note 24 and 25, net of cash and cash equivalents and
equity of the Group, comprising issued share capital and reserves.
Management of the Group reviews the capital structure regularly
taking into account the cost of capital and the risk associated with
the capital. The Group will balance its overall capital structure
through issue of new shares, raise of new borrowings or repayment
of existing borrowings.

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
which became effective on 19 May 2017. Eligible participants of
the Scheme include the Group’s directors and employees, etc.
During the year ended 31 May 2022, no options were granted (2021:
same).

= /\ wlyva =l
RE B SRR MR (8)
28. Share capital 28. |
Number of Share
shares capital
& Q= [N
HK$
T
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each R EE0.015 T E AR
Authorised: ETE
At 1 June 2020, 31 May 2021 and RZZEZTFHA—8 "
31 May 2022 == e B = o — Bl X
=ods SEEsaE = -—8 3,000,000,000 30,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRER
At 1 June 2020, 31 May 2021 and RZEZTEFHA—HB"
31 May 2022 T —®AA=+—8HK
e S5 B = — 8 800,000,000 8,000,000
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group NEEFBEBHEEN SEZBEGBR
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the EA A 25 1’5.‘:|j RETHE BRAEER
return to owners through the optimisation of the debt and equity ERAFBELE  TAKRRGERK

[E] 5 ZIKEIE”J%H%%E’SEEL FE

PB4 T o

7 S B 1 A R R 4 4 1 7 (9
241 25 7 B &) 8 14 BB 75 3O+ 4R
TERRES CHBRERRES

ﬁ%)&ﬁﬁlﬁi%(’\iﬁa?‘“‘%$
LiE#) AEEEEEERARTEN
RiE - Q#%%éﬁﬁﬁﬁ&%@éﬁ$ﬁ
R ER -  AEEBEBBEITHRMN
EEFEFHEEREAER ¥
HEEBEARE-

+

—EE R ZET
21 —tFRAT+HLBRE
B o MnJr%JE‘JAé%,A%’T%NE
BEErREESE - BE-_ZT_-__F1
BA=+—BLtFE ARFATEFH
FHBERE(CZ=—F : HAR) -

(Bl

NAERE
s

7
A —
\_
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29. Reserves 29. f#fE
(a) Group (a) =%
The amounts of the Group's reserves and movements therein AEFENEESEREZFH IR
are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss CAEBREEMEEKRERLEE
and other comprehensive income and consolidated statement SRR EFBRANEZTY -

of changes in equity.

(b) Company (b) &2 7]
Share Capital Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
ROBE RERKE E- Bt
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
& TT & TT & TT T
At 1 June 2020 R-ZZ-_FTF/XA—H 56,496,624 32,709,141 (32,328,103) 56,877,662
Loss and total comprehensive & A &5 18 K& & @ & 18
loss for the year = = T (1,534,469) (1,534,469)
At 31 May 2021 and RZTEZ—%F
1 June 2021 EFA=+—BER

—E-—F;NA—H 56,496,624 32,709,141 (33,862,572) 55,343,193

Loss and total comprehensive 4F A 548 & 2 HE & 18

loss for the year k=) — — (16,881,072) (16,881,072)
At 31 May 2022 IR=EEE
S Ear—E 56,496,624 32,709,141 (50,743,644) 38,462,121
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

30. Related party transactions

31.

Key management compensation

Key management includes directors and other key management of
the Group. The compensation paid or payable to key management
for employee services is shown below:

AN

N

A WIS RR M AT ()

30. BB A RS
FTEEEBEASHMH

=

EEABBREASENESERHE

MEBEEABE -FLEERHME M
HENEZEBEABFMIIRAT :

Year ended 31 May
BERA=t-HLEE

2022 2021
—E=-= s = —4=
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Salaries, other allowances and benefits e HAaERL KAEF 2,783,025 4,059,608
Pension costs — contributions to defined BREBRH—RRAEHKGE
contribution plans Tt 235,595 176,213
3,018,620 4,235,821
Employee benefits 31. EER A
(i) Employee leave entitlements () EEEZRHE
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when BEEZAEEBNENNRESE=
they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the ERER - EREBE2FEEEH
estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services EEMERERBELENEHETER
rendered by the employees up to the year end date. BEELEE -
Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are BEZANRBEEBRERRIK
not recognised until the time of leave. REE T FHER -
(ii) Bonus plans (i) &8

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses,
based on performance and taking into consideration the
profit attributable to the Company’s shareholders after certain
adjustments. The Group recognises a provision where
contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that
has created a constructive obligation.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited

AEERBEERERE THE
1% 5% B 1A AN 2 B BRR 2 i ) 2R R
RABRBREAX - NREBK A
EaeNEEIRNEENMmESE
HEE R ERRERAE -
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A SRR (8

31. Employee benefits (Continued) 31. EERA @)
(iii) Pension obligation (iii) BEkE&EFE
The Group operates various defined contribution retirement REBREZEL2ERSHESY
benefit plans which are available to all relevant employees. Al E M) E B BOR KB A A
These plans are generally funded through payments to Bl o EAE—MRBEBBAKITE
schemes established by governments or trustee administered VHFE S TEATENES
funds. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under KEBELKE - EREM K2
which the Group pays contributions on mandatory, B—IEEKRESTE  NEFHIEE
contractual or voluntary basis into a separate entity. The ZEE IR TE AL A
Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further FEEERBBEEMHT - HE
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay SREEFERCHNEENRALDE
all employees the benefits relating to employee services in the BESNEBEMRETHREE
current and prior periods. The Group’s contributions to the ERBENEN AEEBHEEE
defined contribution plans are expensed as incurred. SHEFEETHELE—FHR K

& [/ B ARG Bl E A SR
RELERHE -

32. Capital commitments 32. EREE
Capital expenditure contracted for but not yet incurred as at 31 REE=—=fEREYSE = —%5 5
May 2022 and 2021 were as follows: =+ —BHEFHNENAREENELRH
T
As at 31 May
REA=+—H
2022 2021
—=E=-= =H ==k
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Property, plant and equipment ME - WE K& — 1,450,717
33. Contingent liabilities 33. RAE
The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 May 2022 == =%y =58 = — &5 35 5
and 2021. =t+—B AEBUTEERRXAEE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ire MR MR ()

34. Notes to the consolidated statement of cash 4. HEBRERERMHE
flow
Change in liabilities arising from financing RETHRELEEENET
activities
The following table shows the Group’s changes in liabilities arising TREFIERNARNEEREEHFIEL
from financing activities during the year. BEHEH -
Lease Bank
liabilities borrowings Total
HEA®E |ITER et
HK$ HK$ HK$
T BT T
At 1 June 2020 RZZEZFTFA—H 3,609,191 3,592,488 7,201,679
Changes in cash flows ReEnEEH (3,522,133) 5,661,380 2,139,247
Non-cash changes: JEIR S EF -
— Acquisition of leases — WEREE 4,986,013 — 4,986,013
— Interest charged on lease —HEBRMERX
liabilities 286,212 — 286,212
— Exchange difference —ERE% 47,633 — 47,633
— Interest charged on bank — RITEFRFERZ
borrowings — 254,559 254,559

At 31 May 2021 and 1June 2021 R-_ZT—-—FHA

s
g - OT E =5 5,406,916 9,508,427 14,915,343
Changes in cash flows RenEZ (3,252,201) 1,639,618 (1,612,583)
Non-cash changes: WS EF :
— Acquisition of leases — I ERE 2,380,648 el 2,380,648
— Interest charged —FMEMX 278,517 365,708 644,225
— Exchange difference —EXER (7,907) — % (7,907)
At 31 May 2022 R-m——
G35 e = 4,805,973 (35185753 16,319,726
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e I HRERNEE(8)

35. A B B B # AR R &

35. Statement of financial position of the

company
As at 31 May
REA=+—H

2022 2021
—E=-= =T s
HKS$ HK$
BT BT

Non-current assets EREBEE
Investments in a subsidiary R B ATRKE 44,709,149 44,709,149

Current assets MENEE
Prepayments and other receivables T8~ RRIE K H e YRR IE 122,132 135,432
Amount due from a subsidiary FE W — R M B A B 5RIE 5,659,896 21,150,174
Cash and cash equivalents RITHEBR KRR 57,718 58,378
5,839,746 21,343,984
Current liabilities mEAaE

Other payables and accrued liabilities EMEMNRBERESEE 4,086,774 2,709,940
Net current assets mEEEFE 1,752,972 18,634,044
Net assets BEFE 46,462,121 63,343,193

Capital and reserves BARREE
Share capital B& 2 8,000,000 8,000,000
Reserves i 38,462,121 55,343,193
Total equity M AR 46,462,121 63,343,193
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ire MR MR ()

36. Subsidiaries 36. {8 A 7

Particulars of the subsidiaries held by the Group as at 31 May 2022 REBR-_E-_—_FK_ZT-_—%7A
and 2021 are as follows: AR=+T—HBEFEBEHHBRAMNELD
s
Issued
and fully
Place and date paid share Percentage of equity held
Name of incorporation capital as at 31 May Principal activities
aF Ml B 32 3 B BETR REB=+—H
2 RBH HERAK g Eod=lald TEEH
2022 2021
—s=-= = = —dE
% %
Direct subsidiaries
BEEMBAR
In Technical Productions  The BV, Us$100 100 100 Investment holding in Hong Kong
(B.V.L.) Limited 9 November 2016
("ITP (BVI)")
In Technical Productions ~ REBREZES - 1005 7T REAREER
(B.V.1.) Limited —T-RF
(TP @avI)]) +—ANE
Indirect subsidiaries
SEL) P
[TP (HK) Hong Kong, HK$10,000 100 100 Provision of video display solution
10 March 2009 services for concerts and events
in Hong Kong, Macau, the PRC
and Taiwan
ITP (HK) ENN 10,0008 7T REE BM PERGER
—ZETNE EEE REBHRERGET
=A+H AT R
Shiji Tiansheng Cultural ~ The PRC, RMB3,500,000 100 100 Provision of video display solution
Communication 4 July 2012 services for concerts and events
(Shenzhen) Limited* in the PRC
4l KRB L E HE AR #3,500,0007C ATEMEBERS RAERER
CRINER R A —E--F BBETBRRAATRRE
+tAMA
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36. Subsidiaries (Continued)

idated Financial Statements (Continued)

36. fff B 2 3 (@)

Issued
and fully
Place and date paid share Percentage of equity held
Name of incorporation capital as at 31 May Principal activities
AT B AL it B BRITR REB=+—H
% kB BERA FRERAEI L TEEH
2022 2021
B —T-—
% %
Shanghai Yingtegao Stage  The PRC, RMB1,000,000 100 100 Provision of stage design and
Arts Limited* 14 October 2014 equipment installation services
in the PRC
LPEREREEEN  FE- AR ¥ 1,000,0007T ERERHEESRGFRRER
BRAR —E-mF KR
TA+THEA
Shenzhen Shiji Tiansheng  The PRC, RMB500,000 70 70 Import and export and wholesale
Technology Limited” 11 July 2013 of video equipment and parts
and related support services in
the PRC
RYTHERERE  FE- AR #500,0007T ERBEEARLAREERE
BRAR —E-=F BERBEARBALF
+A+—H R 7%
InTechPro Macau Limited  Macau, MOP500,000 100 100 Provision of video display solution
27 November services for concerts and events
2017 in Macau
ERSRM-ABR R YR 9% 500,0007T RRFINERE REBRER
yNE] ZE—+tF BETRRATRRSE
+— A=

*

Note:

The company is established as a limited liability company in the PRC.

The company is established as a wholly foreign-owned enterprise in the PRC.

The English names of certain subsidiaries referred to above represent the best

effort by management of the Company in translating their Chinese names as

they do not have official English names.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

37. Event occurring after the reporting period

0]

(i)

Effect of COVID-19

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, the following events took place subsequent to 31
May 2022:

With the launch of the vaccination programmes and the
substantial decrease in the number of COVID-19 infected
cases in 2022 compared to those in 2021 due to the good
results of the control measures imposed by the respective
governments of the PRC, Hong Kong and Macau where the
Group primarily operates, there were signs that the COVID-19
situation has been easing in the regions. The economic
activities resumed gradually and pop concerts and live events
were permitted to be held.

However, uncertainties exist due to the number of infected
cases caused by the COVID-19 variants such as Omicron have
been increasing all over the world because they are highly
contagious. The governments of the regions where the Group
operates may tighten the control measures again which can
seriously affect the Group’s business.

The directors of the Company have been closely monitoring
the development of the latest situation and have continuous
discussion with the customers about their plans to resume the
pop concerts and live events. In addition, the Group raised
new banking facility in December 2021 and April 2022 to
alleviate the liquidity pressure and has taken plans and
implemented measures to enhance the Group'’s cash flows by
accelerating the collection of trade receivables and reducing
the operating costs.

Shareholder’s loan

The controlling shareholder of the Group has entered into a
loan agreement with the Group on 22 July 2022 for a
shareholder’s loan of HK$40,000,000 to the Group.

N
w3

B % R B w ()

37. HEHERER

(i)

(i)

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited

COVID- 19 & &

BRERalERREMBY
FIEEIN RZTE__FHA
=+t HBBEAETUATER:

BEEREEBEEEL  UAKH
RAEBFBEEMEFRH &
78 RO S H R AT B be A X B R
MEREREFKRM — T —FH
COVD-19 A MBI BFLER ==
Z—FARABEL BETZIHE
HICOVID-19&Z 15 B B FT#& 1 o &
EIEEBEZEFPIIRE - MmiTs %
BIEE REGEEEERTT -

R THEEBRIDAGTE
It T3 B A COVID-19% & 5 &= (40
Omicron) EE R EBER2E - B
BRERSERMELREOEE T
PRI LA AEEKEE
FIT 7 Hb [ #9 BT 7] A & B OA M &2
ZHERE R EREFLELR
EERER -

AAREE—EZYEEIRNE
MHEBER  WHEHRRFwmEF
EMmERTELEES RIFISE
FMErElo i AEBER =T
T+ ARKZT=Z=_FIA
EETRITHENER TS E
BN WERRGTE REEE
M - B AN U B E 5 e U GRIR
Ko B AR A8 8 Bk AN LA B 2 AN 52 B )

D32 B
HEmRE -

BRREK

R =F = —F+F =+ SEES
SEERRREEAEBITZER
1 &% M) 7N & B 12 £ 40,000,000 7%
TTHIE R E K -
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37. Event occurring after the reporting period
(Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

The capital injection agreement

The Investor, In Technical Productions Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group, entered into the Capital
Injection Agreement with the Vendors, Lu Wenming, Chai
Sensen and Shenzhen Junxin Investment Partnership (Limited
Partnership), and the Target Company, Shenzhen Xinhang
Information Technology Limited, pursuant to which the
Investor has conditionally agreed to make the Capital Injection
of RMB34 million into a Target Company. Upon completion,
the Investor shall hold approximately 22.9% of the enlarged
issued share capital of the Target Company and have control
over the board of directors of the Target Company.

Accident happened in the Concert on 28 July
2022

On 28 July 2022, an accident (the “Accident”) happened in a
concert of Hong Kong pop music group (the “Concert”). ITP
(HK), an indirect subsidiary of the Company, was engaged as
a video display solution service provider to provide suitable
video display devices, including LED screens, in compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations and responsible for
installing relevant video display devices on the structural
frames provided and designated by the main contractor of
the Concert. ITP (HK) was neither involved in any production
nor involved in any operation of the structural frame,
connecting wire and mechanical moving parts used for video
display devices in connection with the Concert. The Accident
is still under investigation by the relevant authorities and the
progress has been closely monitored by the Directors. Based
on the information available to the Company, the Directors
consider that the abovementioned incident is not expected to
result in any material impact on the Group’s operation and
financial position.
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37. EHEREE @)

(iii)

(iv)

EE W=
KEEBAEBREZENREBE QA
In Technical Productions Limited) £
B AXH - ERHRRARYEESE
REEREE(ERER) UK
BEARRImEMEER RS
RABIGI N EE W= Bt &
BEBRKHRERMBEZEAREE
ARKEIMBEEIL - RTKE @ 1%
BERIFEEBERAIA229%K
BAEZETRARHBEZEARE
EeEaEGE-

R-ZB-_Z_f+tA=-+N
AEBELHRENEN

R=ZZFE=-_—_&+A=+AB8"
—BEBRTELERNER
g((EBEg) LEEEHR(E
) KD GEMEEKEBR A
ITP(HK) 1€ & B2 &R & B R R R
RRGHERIAESTHBEARE
MIBEHEENREGRBETREM(E
FEIDRE) TEEBEBERE
BREMETEIEIRS E &P
FIEHEETMEBER L-
ITP(HK) M £ 2 B R 8 & N (E{ A
EREREBE RSN NERE
Z8 . SR BN 2R K H O T8 B 6 1
MBEEREE - ERIMNEFAES
WHRE MESNEIEESELE
ERE -BEARFTAIBSER &
B LB T EHAEEN
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ire MR MR ()

37. Event occurring after the reporting period 37. REHAREE @)
(Continued)
(v) Intra-group lending (v) SEAIEE
In Technical Productions Holdings Limited (the “Company”) In Technical Productions Holdings
has entered in a loan agreement with In Technical Productions Limited ([ZR A 7)) 2 & In Technical
Limited (“ITP”) on 17 August 2022 for a loan of Productions Limited ([ITP]) X = &
HK$5,000,000 to ITP, to meet the funding needs of business = =% N\ B Sr-e B ESE T S
growth of ITP. The loan is unsecured, interest free and FoARNRMIMTPERABEB T
repayable on demand. WEREERRLEERNES

FR-ZERREER  REM
A EREENER -

38. Approval of consolidated financial statements 38. #it /&4 & B K| &

These consolidated financial statements were approved and Z
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 23 August 2022. A
£

_|_

ERAUBHRRER_T__FN
TtZHREREFTEHERKET
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Financial Summary

MBERE

Result B4

For the year ended 31 May
BEARA=+—BLFE

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
ZE-N\FE ZE-NEF ZT=TF —ZT=-—F ZZEB-_-HF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FAT FAT FAT FAT FET
Revenue U z& 83,607 94,273 44,715 12,349 20,347
Cost of services Bk 75 A A< (41,463) (48,135) (42,001) (34,850) (31,835)
Gross profit/(loss) EH,(£18) 42,144 46,138 2,714 (22,501) (11,488)
Profit/(loss) for the year £ &% 71|,/ (E518) 17,928 22,536 (24,305) (35,078) (24,409)
Assets and Liabilities EERERE
As at 31 May
RERA=+—8H
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
ZE-N\E ZE-hhF ZT=TF T —F ZE-ZC
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FAT FAT FAT FAT FET
Non-current assets IEMBEE 82,002 90,475 98,823 86,271 75,164
Current assets mENE E 67,598 69,977 31,245 14,826 12,293
Non-current liabilities  JER & & (& 8,339 7,589 6,699 3,851 2,783
Current liabilities mEEaE 34,115 23,200 18,068 26,913 38,735
Net current assets/ EBEE/(BE)
(liabilities) e 33,483 46,777 13,177 (12,087) (26,442)
Net assets BEEFE 107,146 129,663 105,301 70,333 45,939

The summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated i EVT A EXRCEZGESMEHREZ
financial statements. — 25 o
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